
 

 

www.eden.gov.uk         

I Frost 
Interim Chief Executive 

Date: 10 January 2022 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 

Tel: 01768 817817 

Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Cabinet Agenda - 18 January 2022 
 

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Cabinet will be held at 6.00 pm on Tuesday, 
18 January 2022 at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Penrith. 
 
Please note: if you would like to attend this meeting, we request that you contact 
Democratic Services to let us know.  Contact details are below*.  We would also 
request that wherever possible, those attending continue to wear face coverings 
and practice hand sanitising measures.  This is due to ongoing concerns in relation 
to the Covid pandemic.   
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
 

2   Minutes   
 

RECOMMENDATION that the public minutes Cab/70/12/21 to Cab/78/12/21 of the 
meeting of the Cabinet held on 21 December 2021 be confirmed and approved by 
the Chairman as a correct record of those proceedings (copies previously 
circulated). 
 

3   Declarations of Interest   
 

To receive declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered. 
 

4   Questions and Representations from the Public   
 

To receive questions and representations from the public under Rules 3 and 4 of the 
Cabinet Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 

5   Questions from Members   
 

To receive questions and representations from Members under Rule 5 of the 
Cabinet Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 

6   Development Management Review  (Pages 5 - 42) 
 

To consider Report No. DCE04/22 of the Assistant Director Development, which 



www.eden.gov.uk 2 

informs Members about the recent peer review of the Council’s planning service 
carried out by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) attached at Appendix 1. The 
recommendations from the review are set out in full in Appendix 2 along with the 
Council’s response to them which forms a plan to deliver related improvements. The 
financial implications of the plan are also set out for Members’ consideration and 
approval. 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 

1. the report’s findings and the recommendations be noted; 
 

2. the action plan in the attached Appendix be approved; and 
 

3. Cabinet endorses the costs of implementing the proposed action plan set out 
in paragraph 6, and recommends their inclusion in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan subject to Council approval.   

 

7   ICT Shared Service Contract   
 

To consider Report No. DoR02/22 of the Interim Director of Resources. 
 
Local Government Reorganisation will result in the activities of both Eden District 
Council and South Lakeland becoming the responsibilities of the new unitary council 
from 1st April 2023.  This will remove the need for the Shared Service arrangement.  
Accordingly, South Lakeland District Council will confirm with Eden District Council 
that the current agreement to provide IT services will not be renewed on its expiry of 
the 31st March 2023. 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  
 

1. Approve that in light of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) Eden District 
Council accept that the IT Shared Service Agreement will not be renewed 
following the expiry of the current agreement on the 31st March 2023. 
 

2. Approve that in the event that the Structural Changes Order is not made for 
any reason or is delayed so as to set the vesting day for the new authorities 
later than April 1st 2023, that SLDC discuss with Eden District Council an 
extension of the shared service arrangement to ensure service continuity and 
enable both Councils to review options for the future delivery of IT services. 
 

Please note: this report will be sent ‘to follow’.  
 

8   Draft Budget Proposals 2022/23 & Impact on Medium Term Financial 
Plan  (Pages 43 - 66) 
 

To consider the attached Report No. DoR01/22 of the Interim Director of Resources, 
which details the draft Budget Proposals for 2022/23 for consultation and the current 
Medium Term Financial Plan for 2022/23 – 2024/25. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 

1. the implications of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement as 



www.eden.gov.uk 3 

set out in section 5 of the report be noted; 
2. Consider and recommend the draft Revenue Budget 2022/23 be considered 

and recommended for consultation as set out at Appendix 2; 
3. the revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 at Appendix 3 be 

noted; 
4. the General Fund and Revenue Reserves movements for 2021/22 to 2025/26 

at Appendix 4 be noted; and 
5. the Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2025/26, as set out at Appendix 5 be 

noted. 
 

9   Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are urgent   
 

10   Date of Next Scheduled Meeting   
 

The date of the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet be confirmed as Tuesday 15 
February 2022 at 6.00 p.m. 
 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 
I Frost 
Interim Chief Executive 
 
*Democratic Services Contact: Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 
or telephone: 01768 212266 
 
 
Encs 
 
For Attention 
All members of the Council 
 
Chairman – Councillor V Taylor (Liberal Democrat Group) 
Vice Chairman – Councillor M Robinson (Independent Alliance Group) 
 
Councillors 

J Derbyshire, Liberal Democrat Group 
K Greenwood, Independent Alliance Group 
M Rudhall, Liberal Democrat Group 
 

L Sharp, Labour Group 
M Tonkin, Independent Alliance Group 
 

 
Standing Deputies 

  
 

  
 

mailto:cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk


www.eden.gov.uk 4 

Please Note: Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
this meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) and 
as such could be filmed or recorded by the media or members of the public 



 

Report No: DCE04/22 

Eden District Council 

Cabinet 
18 January 2022 

Development Management Review 

Portfolio: Leader Portfolio 

Report from: Assistant Director Development 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to the inform the Cabinet about the recent peer 
review of the Council’s planning service carried out by the Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS) attached at Appendix 1. The recommendations from the review 
are set out in full in Appendix 2 along with our response to them which forms a 
plan to deliver related improvements. The financial implications of the plan are 
also set out for Member’s consideration and approval. 

2 Recommendations 

It is recommended that: 

2.1.1 The findings and the recommendations are noted. 

2.1.2 That the action plan in the attached Appendix is approved. 

2.1.3 That Cabinet endorse the costs of implementing the proposed action plan set out 
in paragraph 6 and recommend their inclusion in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan subject to Council approval. 

3 Report Details 

3.1 Planning Advisory Service Review 

3.1.1 The Planning Advisory Service is part of the Local Government Association and 
provides advice, support and training on planning and service delivery to 
councils. Peer reviews of this kind are an accepted and frequently used tool to 
ensure that Councils are up to date and implementing best practice whenever 
possible. This review was requested by the Council and was, organised by the 
Planning Advisory Service and carried out by members of the PAS team, a PAS 
consultant and a Member Peer. The brief for the Development Management 
Review was to look at opportunities that could be opened up with the new unitary 
council but to focus primarily on the needs of Eden Council as it is currently set 
up administratively. Within this the review included; the operation of our 
development management service, with member/officer relationships, 
effectiveness of negotiation skills, the use of policies in these negotiations, the 
pre application service and the enforcement service. 

3.1.2 The review involved work undertaken on site and virtually. All interviews and 
background research was carried out virtually during September and early 
October with two day on site where workshop sessions were carried out to 
enable the team to present their findings to date and enable further discussion to 
inform the peer final recommendations. It also included a bespoke training 

Page  5

Agenda Item 6



 

session on Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) where the trainer was brought in virtually 
using MS Teams. The on-site sessions took place on the 6 and 7 October 2021. 

3.1.3 The interviews collected the views of officers inside and outside the service, 
councillors, stakeholders and users. 

3.2 Feedback 

3.2.1 The feedback from the review focussed mainly on a number of areas including 
performance, customer focus, communication, policy delivery and negotiating 
skills, the pre application system, enforcement and biodiversity policy 
implementation. 

3.2.2 The review recognised that the service had maintained a very good performance, 
despite a very difficult period over the previous 18 months, and it also identifies 
areas for improvement. 

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

4.2 This report meets the Sustainable, Connected and Healthy safe and secure 
corporate priorities as the actions supported by the improvement and additional 
resources enables more of the Council’s policies to be delivered through 
development. 

5 Consultation 

5.1 The work of the PAS team included consultation with members, officers, users of 
the service and consultees. 

5.2 The PAS review was considered by Planning Committee on 6 January. The 
Committee’s comments are attached as Appendix 3. 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in its 
Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

6.1.2 Included in the proposed MTFP for 22/23 which will be considered by Council on 
18 January 2022 are the following costs in relation to Development 
Management: 

Description Amount Funded From 

Pre-application Resource  £96,000 Proposed in this report 

Enforcement Resource and 
deliver recommendations 

 £150,000 Proposed in this report 

Ecology Resource  £40,000 Proposed in this report 

SUB-TOTAL  £286,000  

Page  6



 

Maintaining Senior Posts  £145,000 Additional costs of covering senior posts 
with agency staff – not part of this 
proposal 

TOTAL  £431,000  

6.1.3 Pre application Planning Resource The post is to deliver recommendations 16-19 
set out in the appendix below. A financial provision of £96,000 is required. This 
sum allows for the potential need to recruit to a post using consultancy /agency 
arrangements should it not be possible to recruit on standard employment terms. 
This is a recognition that the market for qualified planners is very difficult at the 
present time. 

6.1.4 An overall budget of £150,000 to support the Enforcement Team and deliver 
recommendations 21 to 24 is proposed. This would allow for the potential of 
funding up to three additional staff to deal with the growing backlog. The figures 
allows for the potential difficulty in recruiting qualified staff. It is expected that a 
mixture of recruitment types may be necessary. 

6.1.5 An allocation of £40,000 is proposed to deliver Recommendations 29-31 in 
relation to Ecology. This is to provide specialist support to development 
management, planning policy and sustainability work. This skill set is likely to be 
in high demand due to the new duties arising from the Environment Act. 

6.1.6 Future s106 Agreements will include provision for a top-slice to fund the 
administration of those future agreements. The cost of administration of existing 
agreements will need to be considered further. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 The provision of functions set out in this report shall be provided in accordance 
with relevant legal requirements including those that impact on equality and 
diversity and taking account of the legal duties that the Council has towards staff, 
residents and local businesses. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are significant human resource implications in making the taking forward 
the proposed plan. It should be noted there are also human resources 
implications if the plan is not taken forward as workloads need to match staff 
resources available. 

6.4 Environmental 

6.4.1 Implementation of the proposed action plan will have a significant positive impact 
on the environment as it focusses effort and resources on activities related to the 
environment and in particular corporate priorities. 

6.5 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity The Council is committed to ensuring it meets the 
Public Sector Equality Duty in order to provide 
equality of opportunity through access to services 
for all and delivering services which meet the 
needs other Council’s customers. 

Health, Social The Corporate Plan promotes the well-being of 

Page  7



 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

future generations, and the post pandemic 
recovery of our communities. There will be positive 
implications as all the actions of the Development 
Management Services have an environmental 
focus which will be supported and enhanced. 

Crime and Disorder Healthy, connected, prosperous communities will 
reduce the scope for crime and disorder. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

The Council will work with other agencies to 
promote the well-being and safety of children and 
vulnerable adults. 

6.6 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

The plan is not funded 
and delivered 

Reputation damage 
to the service and 
the Council. 
Development 
constrained in the 
district creating 
problems for local 
people and 
developers. Failure 
to optimise delivery 
of our green 
corporate objectives. 
Continued stress on 
staff and failure of 
statutory service. 

Plan adopted and delivered 
and funding provided. 
Successful recruitments. 

Plan delivered in part  Issues raised not all 
dealt with potential 
limited reputation 
damage, 
environmental and 
financial 
consequences. 

Plan adopted and delivered 
and funding provided. 
Successful recruitments. 

7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 The alternatives to the proposal in this report is to either do nothing (which is 
consider not a viable option in the situation) or agree to part of the plan excluding 
some elements. This would result in failure to achieve some elements of the 
objectives sought and risks some degree of reputation damage and non delivery 
of the Councils objectives for the service. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 To ensure the effective continuation of this statutory service, remove the risk of 
reputational damage and support the delivery the Councils corporate objectives. 

Page  8



 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 10/01/2022 

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 06/01/2022 

Background Papers:  

Appendices: Appendix 1 – Planning Advisory Service Report - 
Development Management Review and Training, Eden 
District Council, November 2021 

 Appendix 2 – Development Services Improvement Action 
Plan 

 Appendix 3 – Comments from the Planning Committee of 6 
January 2022. 

Contact Officer: Fergus McMorrow, Assistant Director Development 

 

Page  9



 

1 
 

                                                                                                                                                          
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development Management Review and 

Training 

 

 

 

Eden District Council 

 

 

 

November 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1

Page  10



 

2 
 

 

Contents 
1.0 Context and scope of the report 3 

2.0 Background and methodology 4 

Interviews held prior to the on site review days 5 

3.0 Recommendations 5 

Development Management performance (refer also to appendix 1) 5 

Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (refer also to appendices 2 

and 3) 6 

Officer / Member relationships (refer also to appendices 2 and 3) 6 

Officer negotiation skills (refer also to appendices 2 and 3) 7 

Pre application service (refer also to appendix 4) 7 

Planning enforcement service (refer also to appendix 5) 8 

Short term 8 

Biodiversity Net Gain (refer also to appendix 6) 9 

4.0 Detailed Feedback 9 

4.1 Development Management Performance (see also appendix 1) 9 

4.2 Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (see also appendices 2 

and 3) 10 

4.3 Officer / Member relationships (see also appendices 2 and 3) 12 

4.4 Officer negotiation skills (see also appendices 2 and 3) 14 

4.5 Pre application service (see also appendix 4) 15 

4.6 Planning Enforcement (see also appendix 5) 17 

4.7  Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (see also appendix 6) 19 

5.0 Further Support 19 

Appendix 1 – Eden Development Management Performance 20 

Appendix 2 – Officer workshop on negotiation skills, use of policy and officer / Member relations 20 

Appendix 3 - Officer / Member workshop on negotiation skills, use of policy and officer / Member relations

 20 

Appendix 4 - Pre application service 20 

Appendix 5 – Planning enforcement service 20 

Appendix 6 – Biodiversity Net Gain 20 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  11



 

3 
 

1.0 Context and scope of the report 
1.1 This report summarises the findings of a Development Management review and 
training programme, organised by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) and carried out by 
members of the PAS team, a PAS consultant and Member Peer. The aim of the review 
was to assess the operation of Eden’s Development Management service with particular 
focus on: 

1. Member / Officer relationships 
2. Effectiveness of negotiation skills in the planning applications process and use of 

policies in these negotiations 
3. The effectiveness of the current pre application service 
4. The effectiveness of the current Planning enforcement process 

1.2 In addition there was a training session on the implementation of Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) in the Planning process. 

1.3. The review and training were carried out with the backdrop of ongoing Covid 
restrictions.  The review and training were carried out on site but staff are currently working 
primarily from home and in many instances the on-site sessions were the first time staff 
had seen each other for many months.  This was very evident during the review process 
with some evidence of stress amongst staff who have grown accustomed to almost 
exclusive home working, and the Council should give thought to supporting staff’s return to 
the workplace over coming months. 

1.4 The review took place against the background of a Government announcement in July 
2021 on Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria.  Under the proposals the 
government announced that it intended to proceed with a two-unitary model based upon 
an “East and West” split. This would mean two new Unitary Councils would be created 
from the areas of Allerdale, Carlisle and Copeland in one and Barrow, Eden and South 
Lakeland in  the other.  Elections are due to take place in May 2022 ahead of vesting in 
2023.  The brief for the Development Management Review was to look at opportunities 
that could be opened up with the new unitary council but to focus primarily on the needs of 
Eden Council as it is currently set up administratively. 

1.5.  The review also took into account the LGA Governance Review that took place on 19 
– 20 July 2021 and reference is made to this report where relevant rather than duplicating 
any existing findings or recommendations. 

1.6 The review team greatly appreciated the openness and enthusiasm of both Members 
and Officers to engage in the review process even though it was against a backdrop of 
many months of Covid restrictions, a recent announcement over LGR and very clear levels 
of workload pressures among some staff.  It is to Eden DC’s enormous credit that the 
review team was able to engage so effectively during the virtual meetings and on-site 
workshops. 

1.7 The recommendations have been separated out into seven distinct sections in 
accordance with the brief set by Eden DC to the review team.  However, some of the 
recommendations overlap different sections and are also further explained and evidenced 
in the presentations that are appended to the report and were presented to different Officer 
and Member groups during the on-site work.  .  The appendices should also been 
considered as stand alone training resources for Eden DC in accordance with the brief 
with particular reference to the best practice and case studies illustrated in the 
presentations. 

Page  12



 

4 
 

1.8 The review team was conscious of not duplicating information and resources available 
to Eden DC and therefore in addition to the LGA Governance Review the report includes 
hyperlinks to additional resources, training material and best practice from other Local 
Authorities 

 

2.0 Background and methodology 
2.1 This report sets out the findings of a bespoke review of Eden DC’s Development 
Management service, organised by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS). Eden District 
Council requested that the review consisted both a review of specific aspects of the 
Development Management Service with the addition of best practice examples that can be 
used to help develop its improvement plan and to incorporate bespoke training for staff 
and Members. 

2.2 The review involved work undertaken on site and virtually.  All interviews and 
background research was carried out virtually during September and early October with 
two day on site where workshop sessions were carried out to enable the team to present 
their findings to date and enable further discussion to inform the peer final 
recommendations.  It also included a bespoke training session on Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) where the trainer was brought in virtually using MS Teams.  The on-site sessions 
took place on the 6 and 7 October 2021. 
 
2.3 The sessions comprised the following: 
 
Day 1 
 

1. A review of current Development Management performance – attended by the three 
peers and Eden Planning management team. 

2. A discussion on the feedback received by the peer team on Eden’s negotiation 
skills, use of Planning policies and officer / member relations – attended by Eden’s 
Development Management Team and managers. 

3. A workshop on ways to address specific concerns raised on shortfalls in Eden’s 
negotiation skills, use of Planning policies and officer / member relations – attended 
by a selection of officers, Members of the Planning Committee and Members of 
Eden’s Senior leadership team. 
 

Day 2 
 

4. A workshop on current pre application practice and best practice examples – 
attended by Eden’s Development Management Team and managers. 

5. A workshop on current planning enforcement practice and best practice examples – 
attended by Eden’s Development Management Team and managers. 

6. A training session on current BNG policy and legislation and best practice in the 
delivery of BNG – attended by a wider audience of officers and Members.  

 
2.4 The review team were: 
 

● Peter Ford – Principal Consultant, PAS and lead reviewer. 
● Raymond Crawford – Consultant appointed by PAS - to lead on the effective 

use of policies in decision making and assist on sessions relating to negotiation 

skills and officer / Member relations.  Raymond attended day one. 

Page  13



 

5 
 

● Cllr Christopher Newbury – Wiltshire Council - to assist on the sessions 

relating to the effective use of policies in decision making, negotiation skills and 

officer / Member relations.  Christopher attended day one. 

● Rebecca Moberly – Principal Consultant, PAS – to lead on the BNG training 

session.  Rebecca attended virtually on MS Teams on day two. 

 
2.5 The team would like to thank Officers and Members at Eden DC and everybody they 

met during the process for their time and valuable contributions.  The engagement of all 

parties to this review have enabled the review team to provide some clear 

recommendations that will hopefully enable Eden DC to both address immediate issues 

prior to LGR and also longer term issues that can be incorporated into the discussions as 

Eden DC transitions within a new unitary authority. 

 Interviews held prior to the on site review days 
2.6 The review team undertook a wide range of interviews prior to the on-site review and 

training.  Each of the interviews were open ended to allow the participants to raise the 

matters that they wished to raise and were based on some or all of the themes of the 

review.  In each case none of the comments were attributed to individuals and only to a 

more generic group e.g., a planning agent, a councillor etc. 

2.7  A total of 21 interviews took place and included the following groups of participants 

● Planning agents (six individual interviews) 

● Development Management Planning Officers 
● Policy Planning Officers 

● Planning Enforcement Officers 
● Planning Managers 

● Members of the Planning Committee 
● Other senior Members 

● Internal consultees 
● Cumbria County Council and other external consultees 

 

3.0 Recommendations 

Development Management performance (refer also to appendix 1) 
R1.  Review the current management support processes to enable greater time to support 
case officers.  Until manager caseloads can be reduced it is recommended that manager 
support time is best deployed through dedicated management time for case surgeries 
involving groups of officers with similar application types.  In this way case officers can 
learn from each other and understand suitable approaches to deal with particular 
application types.  In the longer term the Planning Services Development Manager should 
have either no caseload of their own or a very limited caseload so that they can dedicate 
their time to managing the team.  

R2.  Discuss the use the Planning Portal with local agents to understand better why there 
is a low take up of Planning Portal submissions.  Agree with agents how better use of the 
Planning Portal or other electronic submission methods could speed up the validation 
process to the mutual benefit both of planning agents and the LPA. 

Page  14



 

6 
 

R3.  Undertake an urgent review of current vacant posts and the impact it is having on 
workload and customer service.  It will be challenging to fill permanent posts during the 
period of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) and in reality, may require either the 
use of agency staff / shared service arrangements in the short term or a process of 
prioritising urgent Development Management work and managing customer expectations. 

R4. Ensure that a support mechanism is put in place as staff transition back to the 
workplace.  We suggest this is coupled with support and information on the transitional 
arrangements as Eden DC goes through the LGR process.  The last couple of years have 
been extremely disruptive for staff both in terms of Covid and the LGR announcements 
and we suggest that many staff will need support to manage these significant changes in 
how they will be working in the future. 

Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (refer also to 

appendices 2 and 3) 
R5. Undertake a critical review of Committee and delegated reports to ensure that they are 
focussed, avoid duplication and repetition, that they are no longer than necessary and 
where decisions are not clear cut that situation is reflected in the tone of the reports.   

R6. Undertake a focussed review of applications that have been approved contrary to 
Officer advice to refuse, where the discussion has centred around sustainable 
communities, and to use the results as a shared learning experience and potentially to 
inform future policy making decisions. 

Officer / Member relationships (refer also to appendices 2 and 3) 
R7. Introduce a regular Development agenda item at Planning Portfolio meetings where 
the Chair of Planning Committee and Planning Services Development Manager can 
discuss key Development Management issues.  We suggest that standing items should 
include a confidential review of current pre-applications, issues relating to current planning 
applications and feedback from Planning Committee. 

R8.  Introduce a regular “meet the staff” session with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning Committee meeting all staff in Development 
Management.  It is recommended that these meetings do not have set agendas but are an 
opportunity for officers and Members to better understand the issues they are facing and 
getting to know each other better to support working relationships.  We suggest these 
meetings are initially held quarterly. 

R9.  Review the presentation arrangements for items that are determined at Planning 
Committee so that case officers get greater ownership of their own applications.  This can 
be addressed in a number of ways.  It could include more case officers presenting their 
own reports at Planning Committee but also and sometimes alternatively involving case 
officers more in the Planning Committee procedures e.g., attendance at site visits, Chair’s 
briefings or acting in a support role to more senior staff at Planning Committee.  Whichever 
way this recommendation is implemented we recommend that all case officers have the 
opportunity to see the Planning Committee in operation to understand the way that 
decisions are considered by Members. 

R10. Prepare regular performance reports for Planning Committee and Portfolio Holder 
meetings to enable Members to gain greater awareness of both the successes being 
achieved in Development Management and to enable them to be sighted on issues when 
they arise to enable Members and officers to work together to resolve issues when 
necessary. 

Page  15



 

7 
 

R11. Revisit the scheme of delegation review that was undertaken in 2018 to establish 
whether the current political administration wishes to implement further elements of that 
review’s recommendations in light of the new political administration. 

R12.  Undertake training for all Members of the Council on the planning process and 
stages in reaching a decision or recommendation made by the Planning Officers as part of 
their day-to-day work.  This training could either be undertaken directly by officers at Eden 
DC or could be designed and facilitated by an external body such as PAS and should be 
considered as part of Recommendation 1 of the LGA Governance Review. 

Officer negotiation skills (refer also to appendices 2 and 3) 
R13. Where evidenced feedback is received that officers are not providing reasonable 
communication back to users of the Planning system, managers should take appropriate 
action to address the matter and to ensure that this robust approach is communicated 
back, for example through agent communications and Member briefings.  This should be 
considered alongside Recommendation 7 of the LGA Governance Review. 

R14.  Establish a regular forum for liaison with local agents so that the Planning team can 
easily communicate matters to agents and equally agents have a reliable channel of 
communication with the Planning managers.  It is suggested that the Planning Services 
Development Manager discusses the best form of communication with some of the key 
agents direct to establish what is the most time effective way of communicating. 

Pre application service (refer also to appendix 4) 
R15. Review the options outlined in appendix 4 on the type of pre application service that 
could be offered by the Council and design the advertised pre application service to 
applicants based on:  the priority that the Council wishes to give the pre application 
service; the development opportunities that are coming forward through the Local Plan and 
other inward investment opportunities; the staff resources that are and will be available to 
service the pre application service including the risk that the council wishes to take to fund 
posts through the pre application service. 

R16. Review the existing menu of pre application services on offer so that it meets the 
requirements of the type of service that Eden wishes to provide for customers.  This could 
include a priority pre application service for specific applicants who will help the Council 
meet its Local Plan and corporate objectives in meeting the vision for Eden DC and the 
emerging new unitary authority. This should also include a review of those elements of the 
pre application service you wish to provide for free and ensure free pre applications can be 
clearly justified as being fair to all users of the pre application service.  Many good 
examples of pre application services can be used to use as benchmarks including 
Plymouth City Council, Maidstone Borough Council,  

R17. Review the pricing structure to ensure it meets the actual cost of providing the 
service whilst also meeting the restrictions outlined in the Local Government Act on profit.  
Support for doing this can be found in the PAS document Calculating the cost of pre 
application services. 

R18. Review the way that the pre application service is accessed and promoted on the 
Council website so that it meets the type of service that Eden will offer to applicants.  This 
should also include the ability to apply for a pre application service online rather than 
reliance on pdfs.  It should also include a set of clear and achievable performance 
standards that staff can meet.  These should be explained clearly to applicants and 
regularly reviewed so that evidence can be shown that they are being met. 

Page  16

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/SPIFeesPolicy2021.pdf
https://maidstone.gov.uk/home/primary-services/planning-and-building/primary-areas/apply-for-planning-permission/primary-areas/do-i-need-planning-permission/tier-3-primary-areas/pre-application-advice
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/calculating-cost-pre-appl-14c.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/calculating-cost-pre-appl-14c.pdf


 

8 
 

R19. Review the role of Member engagement in the pre application process in association 
with Recommendations 1 and 7 of the LGA Governance Review so that Members and 
Officers understand the appropriate stage in engaging in pre-application discussions and 
better appreciate the probity issues that surround engagement in influencing decisions 
prior to the formal decision making stage.  Reference to the PAS guide on Councillor 
involvement at pre application may provide some assistance. 

Planning enforcement service (refer also to appendix 5) 

Short term 

R20. Review the current Planning Enforcement policy to include a prioritisation for each 
Enforcement case using appendix 5 for best practice examples. 
 
R21. Use regular case review workshops involving managers and Planning Enforcement 
Officers to review existing caseloads and close inactive cases or those unlikely to lead to 
any action so that staff time is most effectively used, staff feel better supported and 
caseloads can be reduced to a more manageable level. 
 
R22. Introduce a regular slot on Planning Committee agenda to promote the good work 
being undertaken by Planning Enforcement and to allow Members and the general public 
to better understand the workload of Planning Enforcement and the areas of Planning 
Enforcement that are being prioritised.  These reports should be crossed referenced by a 
clearly stated and achievable set of published service standards. 
 
R23. In association with Recommendation 13 of the LGA Governance Review reconsider 
the lines of management control for Planning Enforcement so more enforcement decision 
making is delegated from Planning Services Development Manager to a more junior level 
within the department. 
 
Longer term 

R24. As part of the wider LGR transition arrangements review the balance of resources 

within Development Management to consider whether enough resources are being placed 

in Planning Enforcement to meet the service standards set by the department. 

R25. As part of the wider LGR transition arrangements review the IT systems required to 

better ensure that there is an effective and resource efficient record keeping system in 

operation.  As part of this work better use should be made of online systems to automate 

public requests, maximise self-help for general enquiries and minimise multi handling. 

R26. Agree with the Planning Portfolio Holder a realistic and achievable series of proactive 

enforcement initiatives on frequently raised issues. The idea of this would be for it to act as 

a deterrent against some of the more harmful and persistent contraventions and therefore 

in time reduce the workload for Officers by promoting a zero-tolerance approach to these 

planning breaches. 

R27. Review the use of conditions in planning application decisions so that they can be 

more effectively monitored and enforced when necessary.  The Planning Enforcement 

Officers should be engaged in sense checking the wording to ensure they are fit for 

purpose.  The review should focus particularly on the use of pre commencement 

conditions. 

Page  17

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/engaging-councillors-and--a61.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/engaging-councillors-and--a61.pdf


 

9 
 

R28. Review the mechanism for receiving S106 contributions agreed at planning approval 

stage.  Rather than relying on the Planning Enforcement Team to monitor these 

contributions we suggest that a proper governance system is put in place.  Further advice 

can be found on the PAS Developer Contributions webpage.  

Biodiversity Net Gain (refer also to appendix 6) 
R29.Employ a suitably qualified specialist officer to develop BNG policy and guidance and 

lead on negotiations on all matters relating to ecological support and advice to Planners.  

Ideally this should be on a permanent basis, but in the interim whilst LGR is taking place a 

pragmatic solution could be the recruitment of a temporary post to ensure the emerging 

policies are suitably robust, clear guidance is developed and case officers are assisted 

during negotiations on individual development proposals.  As part of the LGR process the 

Council may want to consider joining with other local authorities in recruiting specialist 

support as part of a joint team. 

R30. In association with the recommendations above on the pre application process we 
suggest that a key part of all relevant pre application discussions includes a focused 
session on BNG to ensure that BNG requirements are negotiated upfront with the 
applicant.  This is particularly relevant prior to BNG being mandatory through legislation. 

R31. Through the support of PAS nominate suitable representative from Eden BC to join 
local and national networks that are being formed to deliver BNG in the interim period 
before BNG becomes a mandatory statutory policy requirement - expected to be Winter 
2023 and to be confirmed via secondary legislation setting out details of Environment Act 
provisions. 

4.0 Detailed Feedback 
 

4.1 Development Management Performance (see also appendix 1) 
4.1.1 Performance as measured by speed of decision making is very good.  Performance 
is significantly above the minimum standards set by The Department for Levelling Up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) of 60% within time for Majors and 70% within time for 
non Majors.  The use of extensions of time agreements to meet these targets are relatively 
high, particularly for non-Majors but is by no means exceptional for authorities similar to 
Eden.   

4.1.2 Performance as measured by quality of decision making is also very good.  In 2018 
Eden DC was not meeting the minimum standard of no more than 10% of Majors being 
overturned at appeal.  However, performance has significantly improved since that time 
with only one Major appeal being overturned at appeal during the DLUHC two year 
accounting period (October 2019 – September 2021) 

4.1.3 The percentage of applications approved in 2020/21 was the 24th highest in England 
at 95%.  With a relatively low take up of the pre application service this is perhaps a little 
surprising, but officers have advised that considerable emphasis is put on negotiating 
positive outcomes to planning applications rather than early refusals.  This positive 
approach to Planning is welcomed by planning agents and is very much in line with the 
approach encouraged through the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Refer 
also to section 4.5 (pre application service). 

4.1.4 The review of officer caseloads was discussed in detail during the on-site workshops.  
Eden DC has had significant staff turnover and an inability to appoint to key posts over the 

Page  18

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions


 

10 
 

last couple of years. In addition, performance has been significantly affected both through 
homeworking and significant times of sickness partly due to COVID related illnesses.  It is 
to the enormous credit of officers that performance has remained very good as caseloads 
have mounted and it is difficult to assess average caseloads under such unusual 
circumstances.  Managers have felt the need to step in and take on a larger caseload than 
would be expected due to work pressures which has included, rather unusually, the need 
to assess a large number of household applications.  We suggest that the approach of 
managers taking on their caseload may be counterproductive as it significantly diminishes 
the time available to support staff who need support, advice and management.  However, 
we appreciate that the managers have been put in an extremely difficult decision with lack 
of staff. 

4.1.5 There is a very wide disparity in the number of applications determined by officers on 
the same grades that indicates an unequal distribution of work among the team.  However, 
for the reasons outlined above, the last six months in particular have been exceptional and 
limited conclusions can be reached when some staff have been off for long periods of time 
and there has been a high staff turnover. 

4.1.6 Limited information was available on speed of validation and there was some 
feedback that validation was slow.  5 – 14 days was the timescale quoted which would 
indicate that there are delays in validation but not as excessive as seen in many Councils.  
However the percentage submitted via the Planning Portal was quoted as 45% which is 
very low compared with elsewhere in the country.  We suggest that greater promotion of 
the benefits of submitting applications through the Planning Portal takes place on the basis 
that it reduces the time the relevant officers require to validate applications.  Perhaps this 
could be achieved by promoting faster validation targets for applications submitted through 
the Planning Portal. 

4.1.7 Performance is clearly being affected due to the unique pressures imposed on staff 
by COVID and the number of vacancies currently being held within the department.  There 
is a limit to what the Council can do with regard to the global pandemic as work restrictions 
have been and will continue to be dictated by Government nationally.  However, we 
consider there is a very urgent need to fill vacant posts that are critical to allowing case 
officers, in particular, to manage their day-to-day workloads.  In reality it will be difficult to 
recruit permanent members of staff during the transitional arrangements of LGR, so we 
suggest interim arrangements are put in place through the assistance of agencies and 
sharing of resources across the Local Authorities affected by LGR. 

4.2 Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (see also 

appendices 2 and 3) 
4.2.1 The review team was directed to a number of Committee reports from recent 
meetings.  The reports that were studied were all very thorough and clearly addressed 
policy issues, setting out the policies that would support a proposal and those where there 
would be a conflict.  Having said that, they were long, and there seemed to be frequent 
use of standard paragraphs which appeared in several reports. 

4.2.2 Planning decisions must be based on planning policy and it is quite right that the 
policy context should form the basis of the reports to the Committee.  The core document 
for Eden District Council is the Eden Local Plan which was adopted three years ago in 
October 2018, it is, therefore, relatively new.  It was noted that there were times in the 
reports where reference was made not just to the local plan policies but also the higher-
level policies in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  There is nothing 
intrinsically wrong with this approach, and where Local Plan Policies are missing, or have 

Page  19



 

11 
 

been overtaken by later changes to the NPPF, applications will need to be determined in 
line with the policies in the NPPF.  However, where the Local Plan policies are in 
alignment with the NPPF, quoting sections from the NPPF, rather than just referring to it, 
could be seen as adding unnecessarily to the length of the reports. 

4.2.3 The way that the reports were written clearly directed Members towards the 
Officer’s recommendation.  In some cases the decision will be clear cut, but in others the 
decision will be more finely balanced, but in the reports that were studied there did not 
seem to be much sense of whether or not the recommendation was “on balance”.  This 
may be because the cases that the review team was directed towards were all clear cut, or 
it could be an indication that Officers are taking a very firm line in directing Members 
towards a particular position.  The tone of the reports could be making Members feel 
boxed in with limited options and could contribute to the views expressed by some 
members that some officers were “dogmatic” and unhelpful.  Clearly where a case is clear 
cut the Officer report should direct members to a particular position to ensure that 
decisions are defensible and to minimise the risk of costs, but where the case is more 
balanced the tone of the reports could be adjusted.  Having said that, the authority’s recent 
performance on appeals is very good, so where applications are refused the decisions 
have been defendable. 

4.2.4 The review team did not study any reports for delegated decisions, but it was the 
view of some members of the Development Management Team that these were 
sometimes overly long.  Whereas a Committee report needs to lead Members, and the 
public, through the planning issues towards the officer’s recommendation, a delegated 
report will be looked at by very few people, and in most cases will never be looked at again 
once a decision has been made.  A delegated report is fundamentally little more than a 
record that the decision making process was sound, and will only become important if a 
decision is challenged.  For straightforward minor applications where there are no 
objections, and the decision is to approve the risk of challenge is very small.  There could 
be a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman over an issue of process, for 
example the consultation process, or there could be a challenge to the High Court on a 
point of law.  A High Court challenge is extremely unlikely but would be most likely to 
centre on an issue such as the interpretation of planning policy.  Delegated reports should 
be proportionate to the sensitivity of the case and the risk of challenge.  This becomes 
particularly pertinent where staff resources are limited, and for the most straightforward 
delegated decisions, a very short report format, with little more than a tick-list covering the 
process and policy considerations, could free up officer time to be spent on more 
complicated cases where they can add value to the process. 

4.2.5 It is recommended that the format of both Committee and delegated reports is 
critically reviewed with the aim of ensuring that the length of reports is proportionate to the 
sensitivity of the case, that where a decision is more finely balanced that is reflected in the 
tone of the report, and that the key issues are not lost in overly long or repetitive reports.  It 
is understandable that Officers are anxious that Members make “safe” decisions, 
particularly following the loss of some appeals relating to solar farms, but that aim is not 
necessarily achieved by very long reports. Indeed, if Officers can spend less time writing 
reports their skills can be employed elsewhere in the planning process where they can add 
value and help achieve better outcomes. 

4.2.6 From the discussions with Members it is clear that some Members have found it 
frustrating that the existing policies in the adopted Local Plan do not enable Members to 
push their manifesto commitments on the green agenda as far as they would like because 
they consider that the national / global agenda has moved on further than is stated in the 

Page  20



 

12 
 

Local Plan.  This is discussed in more depth elsewhere in this report, but it is relevant 
here, in the discussion about policy references in Committee Reports.  Environmental 
issues have become more and more prominent in recent years, even since the adoption of 
the Eden Local Plan, and it is right that Members should wish to embrace this change in 
emphasis when making planning decisions.  However, planning applications must be 
decided in the context of adopted planning policy in the Local Plan and the NPPF, and 
without a clear policy direction decision makers’ hands are somewhat tied.  From the 
reports that were studied the Officer advice in terms of policy related to the environmental 
agenda seems to be sound, and it is important that this is noted. 

4.2.7 One issue that came up during the review is a difference of opinion between some 
Members and Officers over how to maintain sustainable communities.  The Officer 
position, based on currently adopted policy, leans towards concentrating new development 
in existing larger communities, in particular Penrith.  However, it is clear that some 
Members take the view that additional dwellings adjacent to very small groups of buildings 
could help make those groups more sustainable, even where this is contrary to current 
policy.   

4.2.8 These differing positions will continue to lead to tensions between Officers and 
Members into the future.  Notwithstanding the extreme pressure on existing staff, it is 
suggested that a targeted review is undertaken to assess the impact of decisions to allow 
additional dwellings adjacent to very small groups of buildings where these appear to be 
contrary to policy, including the visual impact of these new structures, and if practical who 
ends up living in these buildings.  Unlike refusals, which can go to appeal, decisions to 
grant permission are not generally tested.   This could form a joint training exercise for 
Officers and Members and could help inform discussions on future policy direction.   

4.3 Officer / Member relationships (see also appendices 2 and 3) 
4.3.1 There appears to be a significant issue with communication between some Members 
and officers.  The Council is aware of these issues, and it is to their credit that they are 
working pro-actively to address these historic issues through seeking external challenge 
and support, including the Governance Review completed in the summer of 2021.  
Members refer to loss of trust between themselves and officers and lack of support given 
by officers to help Members come to decisions contrary to officer recommendation at 
Planning Committee.  Yet officers do not appear to be aware of the level of concern 
Members have and indeed Officers told the review team at the workshop sessions that this 
is the first time such concerns have been voiced to them.  Undoubtedly communication 
has been impacted by the lack of face-to-face contact during COVID.  However, the 
apparent miscommunication on this matter was stark and indeed raised considerable 
debate at the workshop sessions.  These matters have been considered in some depth in 
the LGA Governance Review and the recommendations outline in that review are clearly 
relevant to this Development Management Review. 

4.3.2 The review team listened to an audio recording of the Planning Committee from 16 
September 2021.  The tension between Officers and Members was not apparent to the 
review team and the Planning Committee appeared to run smoothly with good 
communication between Officers and Members.  Indeed, even when an item went against 
officer recommendation Officers were helpful in advising Members on sound decision 
making even though they clearly did not agree with the Member decision. 

4.3.3 Much of the tension between Officers and Members appears to be related to 
Member frustrations that the Council’s clear green agenda promoted through the Council’s 
corporate aims are not supported in Officer recommendations and this is primarily due to 
insufficient Local Plan policy basis to support the high environmental and sustainability 

Page  21



 

13 
 

standards that Members wish to achieve.  Members also perceive that Officers push their 
own agendas to achieve their outcomes that they wish to support rather than providing 
balanced reports.  The review team has insufficient evidence to comment further on this 
matter. 

4.3.4 As outlined in section 4.2 there are some issues that the review team have identified 
that can be addressed to improve the officer reports, but the primary issue, as identified by 
the team, is one of communication between Officers and Members and is consistent with 
the findings of the LGA Governance Review. 

4.3.5 It is therefore suggested that more effort is made by both Officers and Members to 
improve communication and mutual understanding of the role of the Officer and Members.  
Evidence of bridge building was evident in the workshops as Members and Officers were 
beginning to understand the pressures and issues that they were facing, as well as their 
respective roles.  However, it is essential that communication is improved on a longer term 
basis as Eden DC transitions to a new unitary authority and forms part of a wider 
organisation.   

4.3.6 We suggest that improved communication takes place at two levels.  Firstly that 
during the Planning Portfolio meetings with senior managers there is dedicated time set 
aside at some of these to discuss Development Management issues that Planning 
Services Development Manager and Chair of Planning Committee attends.  The agendas 
can be flexible but we suggest that standing items should include a confidential review of 
ongoing pre applications and issues with current planning applications.  It should also 
include feedback from Planning Committee with a discussion on what went well and issues 
that need addressing. 

4.3.7 Notwithstanding the time pressures faced by Development Management officers the 
second suggestion for improved communication is to have regular “meet the staff” 
sessions where key members (such as Planning Portfolio Holder, Chair and Vice Chair of 
Planning Committee) meet all the Development Management staff with no set agenda.  
This would be the opportunity for Members and staff to get to know each other as 
individuals and discuss their pressures and concerns.  We hope this will reduce the lack of 
trust that is clearly evident and unhealthy both for the wellbeing of Officers and Members 
and for decision making at Eden DC. 

4.3.8 As with many Planning Committees the items are presented by the most Senior 
Officers in the Development Management team.  Whilst this is helpful in the management 
of high workloads in the team it can impact on the level of exposure that Officers have with 
Members and focuses any issues that Members might have with officer reports on the 
most Senior Officers in the team.  We therefore recommend that greater opportunities are 
given to case officers to present and own their own reports with Members.  This does not 
necessarily need to result in a change in the way reports are presented at Planning 
Committee but could, for example, be addressed by case officers attending site visits or 
Chair’s briefing sessions.  This would also align with recommendation 13 of the LGA 
Governance Review. 

4.3.9 It was evident to the team that Members were not sighted on the very good 
performance of the Development Management Team and the Officers have likewise not 
promoted their achievements as would be expected from a Local Planning Authority that 
has had some very good performance over the past couple of years.  In particular the 
department has had excellent success at defending appeals after a number of years 
where the service was underperforming as defined by the Government national standards.  
Celebrating success can be extremely motivating for staff and when performance slips it is 

Page  22



 

14 
 

essential that Members can understand the reasons and help the department to improve.  
We suggest that performance is regularly reported at Planning Committee and Planning 
Portfolio Meetings.  We suggest that these take the form of visual graphs to clearly show 
performance against realistic targets that are set. 

4.3.10 Both Officers and Members discussed the current scheme of delegation for 
Planning Committee and there were some issues that currently exist that are causing 
some of the tension between Officers and Members because of the types of planning 
applications that are being referred to the Planning Committee by Members.  PAS 
undertook a review of Eden’s Planning Committee Scheme of Delegation in 2018.  As this 
review was carried out prior to the current political administration being in post we suggest 
that its recommendations are revisited to establish whether some of the recommendations 
not implemented to date now have the political will to be implemented. 

4.3.11 It was apparent to the review team that some of the frustration experienced by 
Members was related to a lack of understanding of the planning process followed by 
Officers and how Officers reach their conclusions either in a recommendation to Planning 
Committee or a delegated decision.  This also included when there was a need for a report 
and the type of report required.  We suggest that to address this lack of awareness and 
understanding that there is training for all Members on the planning process that goes over 
and above the training the Planning Committee receives.  This would align with 
recommendation 1 of the LGA Governance Review. 

4.4 Officer negotiation skills (see also appendices 2 and 3) 
4.4.1 There was a lot of positive feedback about Officers’ negotiation skills.  Agents advise 

that Officers are generally very knowledgeable and professional, give good planning 

advice when related to adopted Planning policy, are normally reasonable in their requests 

to justify concerns and balanced in their judgements.  Whilst there is frustration from most 

agents that pre applications are not prioritised by Officers, agents welcome the opportunity 

to negotiate a live planning application.  Whilst this is good customer service and 

appreciated by the agents, please also note comments made regarding pre applications. 

4.4.2 Some Members showed a great deal of frustration that the wider corporate 

objectives of the Council are not always translated in negotiations on planning application.  

This frustration is particularly evident in the Council’s sustainability and environmental 

agenda.  As outlined in section 4.2 the review team considers that Officers are correctly 

interpreting national and local policy in their negotiations with applicants, but some 

Members clearly feel that Officers are not pushing applicants sufficiently to meet the wider 

corporate sustainability and environmental agenda even when there is limited Planning 

Policy justification for doing so.  Some practical suggestions to this dilemma are outlined in 

section 4.7 in relation to Biodiversity Net Gain.  However wider sustainability concerns will 

require more focused action through the Local Plan review process. 

4.4.3 The over-riding issue that concerns agents with regard to Officer negotiation skills is 
that some Officers do not communicate.  One agent stated that they get met with “a wall of 
silence” and cannot get Officers to respond either by phone or email.  This is seriously 
undermining the credibility of the Development Management service.  Whilst we 
understand the very serious time pressures that Officers face, a lack of communication 
with agents is counterproductive as agents should be able to help case officers by 
explaining issues of concern to their clients.  Many agents have acted as local government 
planners at Eden DC and sympathise with the case officers and so the lack of 

Page  23



 

15 
 

communication is proving to be a major hindrance.  It should however be emphasised that 
this issue is only with some Officers and is not a team wide issue. 

4.4.4 We suggest that, with regard to communication, managers should take a robust zero 
tolerance approach where there is evidence of an Officer not communicating with agents 
or other users of the Planning service.  It will be difficult for the team’s reputation to be 
improved if this matter is not addressed urgently.  Again, some of these communication 
issues appear to be Council wide as outlined in the LGA Governance Review. 

4.4.5 We received potentially contradictory feedback over the case officer’s ability to 
manage the responses provided by other specialists.  There was some criticism that 
Officers tend to simply defer to a specialist who has an objection rather than managing the 
different parties’ issues to reach a negotiated solution.  However, there were also 
examples given where case officers have very effectively managed the process taking 
ownership directly of the issues.  Our conclusion is, like most planning authorities different 
Officers have different levels of confidence and experience and the focus should be on 
developing the skills of those Officers who do not feel confident in finding solutions to 
these issues. 

4.4.6 In discussion with local agents it was clear that agents wanted to engage more 
collaboratively with Planning Officers and help Officers manage their high workloads and 
expectations from applicants.  The frustration experienced from agents was primarily the 
frustration in either not being able to contact Officers or managers not having sufficient 
time to properly engage with agents on any matters other than live planning applications.  
We suggest that discussions take place with some of Eden’s key agents to agree a 
protocol for providing feedback and discussion.  This could be in the form of regular 
agents’ forum meetings or a less time-consuming form of communication such as chat 
forums, regular bulletins etc. 

4.5 Pre application service (see also appendix 4) 
4.5.1 There was some very positive feedback on the effectiveness of the pre application 
service operating at Eden DC.  It was seen by agents as flexible to meet the requirements 
of the applicant and there was a good use of informal discussions with managers to gather 
initial feedback before undertaking the formal pre application process.  

4.5.2 Whilst the pre applications were often considered helpful it was clear in the 
discussions with all parties that pre applications are not prioritised by Eden DC and as a 
consequence they are not extensively used by agents and the preferred route of 
negotiation is through a formal planning application where Officers are willing to negotiate 
amendments and overcome objections during the live planning application stage.  We 
understand that the reason why pre applications are not prioritised is because of lack of 
staff resources to properly support a comprehensive pre application service. 
 
4.5.3 Members are rarely involved in the pre application process even though they have 
indicated they would like to be better included in these discussions and to articulate the 
views of local residents prior to a formal planning application being submitted. 

4.5.4 The charging schedule for pre applications dates back to 2012 and appears not to 
have been reviewed during this time.  As a consequence the range of advice on offer is 
very limited with substantial areas of advice being offered for free.  Charges have clearly 
not been kept in line with inflation and do not represent a true reflection of the cost of 
delivering the pre application service.  There is also very little promotion of the pre 
application service on the website or use of Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs) 
(except for a cross Council Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) project) and 

Page  24



 

16 
 

no use of interactive forms on the website so registering for a pre application service is 
through a downloadable pdf. 

4.5.5 A limited Duty Officer service is provided for “do I need planning permission?” 
enquiries and this is managed on an officer rota system. The website has useful 
information for enquirers to use prior to contacting a planning officer and directs enquiries 
to the Planning Portal.  However, there is no filter system to stop enquirers from contacting 
the duty officer direct without considering the online options and so many enquiries are 
received that are either not planning related or could have been answered without the help 
of an Officer. The Duty Officer service is free for all users. 

4.5.6 It is not the role of the review team to tell Eden DC the type of pre application service 
it should offer applicants as the decision needs to be based on the priorities of the Council, 
the types of development options available to the Council and importantly the staff 
capacity to meet the expectations of the pre application service.  Appendix 4 outlines the 
range of pre application services that could be offered from a “cheap and cheerful” option 
to a “premium service” so an informed decision can be made by Eden DC on the type of 
service it wishes to offer applicants. 

 

4.5.7 Regardless of the pre application service that Eden DC wishes to offer applicants 
there are a number improvements that we recommend are implemented to ensure that the 
service provided delivers good value for money and excellent customer service and these 
are outlined below. 

4.5.8 The charging schedule is out of date, limited in scope and confusing.  We suggest 
that this is overhauled using best practice from other LPAs and through a resourcing 
exercise to establish the actual cost of the carrying out specific types of pre applications. 
 
4.5.9 The website is an important tool for both promoting the pre application service that is 
being offered and minimising the resources needed to undertake the initial processing of 
the pre application.  Greater use of the website could be made to promote the service 
offered and automate the initial request form.  At present the only way that a pre 
application can be registered is through a pdf form that an applicant needs to download, 
complete and send back. 
 
4.5.10 Whichever level of pre application service is provided it is important that there is a 
clear set of performance standards that sets out the service that can be expected.  At 
present at Eden this is quite vague and therefore an applicant may have an unrealistic 
expectation of the type of service that they are expecting, which in turn might lead to 
disappointment in the service and even complaints about the service they have received.  
The service standards could be quite simple e.g., a response within a certain timeframe, 
an outline of the written response that will be given and conditions whereby a meeting will 
be included in the pre app service.  Most importantly we feel it is essential that these 
performance standards are achievable and are maintained and monitored. 
 
4.5.11 We found no evidence that pre applications were being prioritised in any structured 
way.  There will inevitably be development opportunities that will be key to Eden delivering 
its Local Plan priorities and ensuring it remains on its housing trajectory.  Whilst this 
undoubtedly will be prioritised by senior Managers and senior Members this is not openly 
expressed, and agents certainly do not recognise any conscious prioritisation.  We 
suggest that, with the limited resources available to Eden DC, that this is openly 
acknowledged, and the Development Management team work much closer with the 

Page  25



 

17 
 

Economic Development and Housing teams to focus on those pre applications that will 
help meet Eden’s wider Planning and corporate agendas. 

 
4.5.12 There is a very clear willingness by Members to become greater involved in the pre 
application discussions and yet this does not appear to take place in any structured way.  
It appears that both Members and Officers are wary of breaches in confidentiality or 
predetermination and this is holding Members back in influencing the development 
process at an early stage even though this is the stage where they can be most effective in 
identifying Council and local interests and concerns.  This issue cuts across a number of 
sections of this review but we consider that it is essential that there is a clear protocol 
established to articulate how Members are involved in pre applications. 
 

4.6 Planning Enforcement (see also appendix 5) 
4.6.1 The overall feedback with regard to the quality and professionalism of the Planning 
Enforcement officers was very positive.  They have a policy of negotiating solutions 
wherever possible and only resorting to formal enforcement notices as a last resort.  The 
staff are knowledgeable and have good communication skills.  Indeed more than one 
agent stated that Eden has the best planning enforcement service in Cumbria due to their 
communication and negotiation skills. 
 
4.6.2 The overriding issue for Eden’s Planning Enforcement service is lack of staff.  There 
appears to be regular caseload of over 200 cases at any one time with less than one full 
time equivalent officer to deal with this caseload.  Therefore responses are slow, it is 
difficult to contact an officer and complainants inevitably get frustrated with a perceived 
lack of action on enforcement enquiries that are raised with the Council. 
 
4.6.3 Members are also unsighted both on the number of cases being dealt with by 
Planning Enforcement and on the priorities and timescales for investigating an individual 
enforcement case.  As a consequence Members become frustrated by their perception 
that enforcement investigations are not being progressed expediently. 
 
4.6.4 There are a number of issues that we have identified that are causing the problems 
with the Planning Enforcement service and that we feel should be addressed as a matter 
of priority to speed up the service provided and improve communication about the 
expectations of the service given.  These are outlined below. 
 
4.6.5 It is very clear that there is simply insufficient staff capacity to deal with the volume of 
enforcement cases received.  Improvements in the processing of cases can ensure that 
the existing staff time can be used more efficiently, but regardless of how processes can 
be improved there will still be a need for additional staff resources. 
 
4.6.6 The Enforcement Officers find it very difficult to properly research planning histories 
due to the inconsistencies with record keeping and the outdated Planning software.  In 
many cases they are reliant on paper files because the historic records have not been 
digitised.  With this inadequate record keeping coupled with high staff turnover throughout 
the department, it is proving very difficult to properly research planning histories and we 
consider that this matter needs to be urgently addressed. 
 
4.6.7 Much of the frustration from Members and the public over the enforcement service is 
due to a lack of understanding of the prioritisation given to particular enforcement cases 

Page  26



 

18 
 

and a lack of understanding of workloads and therefore reasonable response times.  We 
suggest that the Enforcement Policy is reviewed so that there is a greater wider 
understanding of priorities and response times.  These should be owned by Members 
through the adoption of the amended Enforcement Policy by the Planning Portfolio Holder 
and / or Planning Committee.  Appendix 5 gives some examples of good practice that will 
enable these changes to be introduced relatively quickly. 
 
4.6.8 Planning Enforcement is rarely discussed at Planning Committee even though it is a 
part of the Planning process that Members have a great amount of interest as enforcement 
is regularly raised by residents.  We suggest that Planning Enforcement is included as a 
regular item on Planning Committee to enable Members to understand workload 
pressures, learn about key successes and enable them to raise questions if necessary.  
This will raise the profile of the Planning Enforcement service and help Members in their 
discussions with residents. 
 
4.6.9  Management of the Planning Enforcement service is through the Planning Services 
Development Manager which means that in reality the day-to-day management of the 
Planning Enforcement Officers is very limited due to time constraints.  Whilst the 
involvement of the Planning Services Development Manager will be needed on occasion 
due to the high profile and complex nature of the individual case, it is not a good use of his 
time on day-to-day enforcement matters.  Therefore, we suggest that another Officer is 
given supervisory responsibilities for general Planning Enforcement decision making. 
 
4.6.10 Due to the lack of staff resources there is no opportunity to undertake proactive 
enforcement initiatives.  This could be a false economy as high-profile proactive initiatives 
can sometimes prevent regular breaches within a particular subject or geographic area 
and can gain widespread support from the public.  We acknowledge that with the current 
staffing it is not possible for proactive enforcement work to be undertaken but if additional 
resources are identified, this could be an area of focus for the additional staff resources. 
 
4.6.11 One of the issues that was raised as an impediment to effective enforcement was 
the inconsistent use of conditions in decision notices.  We suggest that the use of 
conditions is reviewed particularly with regard to the use of trigger points during the 
development process (e.g., pre commencement, preoccupation) and their precision to 
identify when there is an actual breach. 
 
4.6.12 The webpage relating to Planning Enforcement matters outlines the key 
information, refers to the Enforcement Policy and has an online form for reporting planning 
breaches .  The use of the website in this way is good practice, however we understand 
that the online forms are not commonly used and perhaps a reason for this is because an 
enquirer has a list of phone numbers / emails to use as an alternative.  We suggest that 
the extensive use of phone numbers in particular is reviewed due to the problems that staff 
are currently having to respond to phone enquiries.  Whilst offering a direct line to named 
Planning Officers is laudable a well-designed  online form will increase the level of self 
help for enquirers and provide the necessary breathing space for officers to respond when 
they have had an opportunity to review a particular enquiry. 
 
4.6.13  We became aware during the review process that there does not appear to be an 
effective monitoring system in place to monitor S106 obligations and as a consequence 
there is a concern that monies negotiated are either not being collected or are being paid 
back to an applicant.  If this is occurring then it could potentially undermine the trust and 
credibility of Members and the local community in particular as there is an expectation 

Page  27



 

19 
 

from a decision that is not being fulfilled.  It is important that there is a process in place 
within the Council for the collection of S106 monies and it is legitimate to charge a 
management fee for S106 agreements to monitor and manage the collection of S106 
monies.  For a small authority such as Eden, this need not be a cumbersome process 
taking up a lot of officer time. 
 

4.7  Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (see also appendix 6) 

 
4.7.1 The work carried out by the review team was primarily focused on providing training 
for Officers and Members to enable them to consider how to implement BNG prior to BNG 
being mandatory for all Councils.  However, there were very useful discussions prior to the 
on site review and following the presentation by Rebecca Moberly. 
 
4.7.2 It was clear through the discussions that Eden DC’s existing BNG policies are not 
robust enough in their own right to enforce BNG through the planning applications process 
and there is very little local guidance to support BNG at the present time.  However, there 
are a number of measures that the Council can take to help deliver BNG measures prior to 
a national mandatory statutory policy being in place. We expect BNG to become 
mandatory in Winter 2023 and the date to be confirmed through forthcoming secondary 
legislation that will add details to the Environment Act provisions. 
 
4.7.3 In particular it is recommended that any BNG is negotiated with the applicant at a 
very early stage in the evolution of any individual development opportunities through the 
pre application process so that applicants can be brought on board to understand 
reasonable measures that are affordable and acceptable to the LPA.  In tandem with this 
we feel that a specialist is brought in ideally on a permanent basis, but if this is not due to 
the LGR arrangements then on a temporary basis to lead pre application negotiations and 
to develop suitable guidance on BNG that can influence the statutory policy making in the 
Local Plan review.  The present arrangement whereby matters related to BNG are reliant 
on the case officer is inadequate and unfair on the officers concerned as they will never be 
able to bring forward the necessary levels of expertise to negotiate BNG on individual 
development proposals. 
 
4.7.4 We also consider it is important that Eden DC engages in both County wide and 
national wide networking with other LPAs in a similar position to Eden in that they have a 
strong commitment to delivering BNG but have a limited statutory policy basis to support 
this commitment.  PAS can help Eden access similarly minded Councils and suitable 
networks to assess the ‘art of the possible’ with regard to BNG at the present time. 
 

5.0 Further Support 
 
5.1 A range of support from PAS is available at https://www.local.gov.uk/pas.  

5.2 Planning Advisory Service (PAS) Support Offers: 
 
Planning Committee Support 

 
5.3 The Planning Committee section of the PAS website contains lots of advice and hints 
and tips on running good planning committees.  

Page  28

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas
https://local.gov.uk/pas/councillors/planning-committee


 

20 
 

 
Development Management Training & Materials 

 
5.4 There are a range of tools available on the PAS website to help improve your 
Development Management Service.  In particular the following may be of help. 
 
Development Management Challenge Toolkit provides a health check for your 
Development Management service and covers 15 separate topic areas. 
 
Effective use of Conditions provides advice on wording for implementable conditions 
 
Good Development Management practice provides practical tips for Development 
Management 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain support 

 
5.5 There is a dedicated page on the PAS website that provides further BNG resources 
and training material 
 
Development Contributions support 
 
5.6 There is a dedicated page on the PAS website that provides further support for 
developer contributions 
 
 

Appendix 1 – Eden Development Management Performance 

Appendix 2 – Officer workshop on negotiation skills, use of policy and 

officer / Member relations 

Appendix 3 - Officer / Member workshop on negotiation skills, use of 

policy and officer / Member relations 

Appendix 4 - Pre application service 

Appendix 5 – Planning enforcement service 

Appendix 6 – Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

 

Page  29

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-management-challenge-toolkit
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/conditions
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/good-development-management-practic
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions


Recommendation No. Description  Action Responsibility Target Date  Financial Implications 

1

Review the current management
support processes to enable greater
time to support case officers. Until
manager caseloads can be reduced it
is recommended that manager
support time is best deployed through
dedicated management time for case
surgeries involving groups of officers
with similar application types. In this
way case officers can learn from each
other and understand suitable
approaches to deal with particular
application types. In the longer term
the Planning Services Development
Manager should have either no
caseload of their own or a very
limited caseload so that they can
dedicate their time to managing the
team. 

Regular 1‐2‐1 sessions presently take
place with Planning Officers to discuss
cases where advice and guidance is
needed. This is presently undertaken
by the Principal Planning Officer post.
For a temporary period of time this
will become more challenging due to
staffing resource issues. However, a
review of alternative support
processes will be considered once
staffing levels are increased, to
include group surgeries on a regular
monthly basis.

Planning Services Development Manager Within 3 months of 
staff vacancies being  
filled  or within next 6 
months whichever 
comes sooner

None

2

Discuss the use the Planning Portal
with local agents to understand better
why there is a low take up of Planning
Portal submissions. Agree with
agents how better use of the Planning
Portal or other electronic submission
methods could speed up the
validation process to the mutual
benefit both of planning agents and
the LPA.

A review of wider promotion of the
Planning Portal (in liaison with the
Portal themselves) can be undertaken
– a promotional event to be arranged
at a time when services better staffed
and available resources can undertake
this work. This work will include
further meetings and discussions with
agents to explore possibilities to
increase the use of the Planning
Portal, and also a review of the
Council's website so that Portal
submission is identified as the default
route for the submission of
applications.

Planning Services Development Manager Within 3 months of 
staff vacancies being  
filled  or within next 6 
months whichever 
comes sooner

None

Appendix 2

P
age  30



3

Undertake an urgent review of
current vacant posts and the impact it
is having on workload and customer
service. It will be challenging to fill
permanent posts during the period of
Local Government Reorganisation
(LGR) and in reality, may require
either the use of agency staff / shared
service arrangements in the short
term or a process of prioritising
urgent Development Management
work and managing customer
expectations.

Review has taken place. Budgetary 
requests for funding for additional 
posts has been made. Two vacant 
posts have since been appointed to 
and will start in January. Recruitment 
is ongoing and has been actioned in 
regards to Planning Officer posts and 
Principal Planning Officer Post. 
Prioritisation mechanism has been 
put in place while key vacancies exist

Planning Services Development Manager In progress No additional budget 
costs

4

Ensure that a support mechanism is 
put in place as staff transition back to 
the workplace.  We suggest this is 
coupled with support and information 
on the transitional arrangements as 
Eden DC goes through the LGR 
process.  The last couple of years have 
been extremely disruptive for staff 
both in terms of Covid and the LGR 
announcements and we suggest that 
many staff will need support to 
manage these significant changes in 
how they will be working in the 
future.

An appraisal interview process has 
been introduced collect staff views on 
the support they need as we go 
forward towards LGR. This is a Council 
wide process . Information collected 
from this will lead to a support plan 
for staff. Consideration will still need 
to be given to the nature of return to 
work support to staff. 

CLT Appraisal interviews 
to be completed by 
the end of December. 
Support Action Plan 
to be prepared by XXX

Costs will be identified 
when resulting plan is 
complete and budget 
provision made 

5

Undertake a critical review of 
Committee and delegated reports to 
ensure that they are focussed, avoid 
duplication and repetition, that they 
are no longer than necessary and 
where decisions are not clear cut that 
situation is reflected in the tone of 
the reports.  

A review of the delegated report 
process has already commenced. A 
more streamline process for 
delegated reports is being  
implemented.

Planning Services Development Manager Further streamlined 
reports are being 
produced and this work 
is ongoing. The final 
templates will be 
finalised within the next 
3 months.

3 months

P
age  31



6

Undertake a focussed review of 
applications that have been approved 
contrary to Officer advice to refuse, 
where the discussion has centred 
around sustainable communities, and 
to use the results as a shared learning 
experience and potentially to inform 
future policy making decisions.

Wider discussions and review to be 
undertaken with the Development 
Management and the Local Plan Team 
as part of the early review of the Local 
Plan.

Assistant Director Development, Planning 
Services Development Manager, Planning 
Policy Manager initially. Wider Council 
Members thereafter.

Within next 6 months 
subject to vacant 
posts being filled

None

7

Introduce a regular Development 
agenda item at Planning Portfolio 
meetings where the Chair of Planning 
Committee and Planning Services 
Development Manager can discuss 
key Development Management 
issues.  We suggest that standing 
items should include a confidential 
review of current pre‐applications, 
issues relating to current planning 
applications and feedback from 
Planning Committee.

This is an action point that can be 
progressed through further discussion 
with the Portfolio Holder and the 
Chair of Planning Committee

Assistant Director Development./ 
Portfolio holder/Chair of Planning 
Committee

Within next 3 months  None

8

 Introduce a regular “meet the staff” 
session with the Portfolio Holder for 
Planning and the Chair and Vice Chair 
of Planning Committee meeting all 
staff in Development Management.  It 
is recommended that these meetings 
do not have set agendas but are an 
opportunity for officers and Members 
to better understand the issues they 
are facing and getting to know each 
other better to support working 
relationships.  We suggest these 
meetings are initially held quarterly.

Action point to be discussed with 
Development Management Team 
and Portfolio Holder.

Assistant Director Development Within next 3 months None

P
age  32



9

Review the presentation 
arrangements for items that are 
determined at Planning Committee so 
that case officers get greater 
ownership of their own applications.  
This can be addressed in a number of 
ways.  It could include more case 
officers presenting their own reports 
at Planning Committee but also and 
sometimes alternatively involving 
case officers more in the Planning 
Committee procedures e.g., 
attendance at site visits, Chair’s 
briefings or acting in a support role to 
more senior staff at Planning 
Committee.  Whichever way this 
recommendation is implemented we 
recommend that all case officers have 
the opportunity to see the Planning 
Committee in operation to 
understand the way that decisions are 
considered by Members.

No proposed change to existing 
processes. Planning Officers are not 
required to present at Planning 
Committee, however are already 
supported to do so should there be an 
interest in doing so.  Planning Officers 
will continue to be encouraged to 
engage in member processes 

Planning Services Development Manager n/a None

10

Prepare regular performance reports 
for Planning Committee and Portfolio 
Holder meetings to enable Members 
to gain greater awareness of both the 
successes being achieved in 
Development Management and to 
enable them to be sighted on issues 
when they arise to enable Members 
and officers to work together to 
resolve issues when necessary.

This recommendation has already 
been actioned. A quarterly 
performance report was prepared 
and put before the members of the 
Planning Committee in November, 
and will continue throughout the 
year.

Planning Services Development Manager Ongoing None 

P
age  33



11

Revisit the scheme of delegation 
review that was undertaken in 2018 
to establish whether the current 
political administration wishes to 
implement further elements of that 
review’s recommendations in light of 
the new political administration.

Monitoring Officer to consider 
undertaking a focussed review of 
planning application delegations in 
response to initial request.

Monitoring Officer  Within next 6 months None

12

Undertake training for all Members of 
the Council on the planning process 
and stages in reaching a decision or 
recommendation made by the 
Planning Officers as part of their day‐
to‐day work.  This training could 
either be undertaken directly by 
officers at Eden DC or could be 
designed and facilitated by an 
external body such as PAS and should 
be considered as part of 
Recommendation 1 of the LGA 
Governance Review.

Proposed externally provided training 
to be provided training be e provided. 

Committee Services and relevant 
Assistant Director.

Within next 6 months 
or after annual 
Council meeting in 
May when the 
Planning Committee 
members are 
confirmed.

Unknown at this time.

13

Where evidenced feedback is 
received that officers are not 
providing reasonable communication 
back to users of the Planning system, 
managers should take appropriate 
action to address the matter and to 
ensure that this robust approach is 
communicated back, for example 
through agent communications and 
Member briefings.  This should be 
considered alongside 
Recommendation 7 of the LGA 
Governance Review.

In accordance with the findings and 
recommendation of the PAS Review 
report, a review will take place of 
response standards and how they 
apply to the planning services, 
barriers to quick response times, 
improvements that can be made. 
Protocols will be agreed and 
implemented.

Planning Services Development Manager Within 3 months  None

P
age  34



14

Establish a regular forum for liaison 
with local agents so that the Planning 
team can easily communicate matters 
to agents and equally agents have a 
reliable channel of communication 
with the Planning managers.  It is 
suggested that the Planning Services 
Development Manager discusses the 
best form of communication with 
some of the key agents direct to 
establish what is the most time 
effective way of communicating.

However, future feedback events 
would be useful for the service to 
facilitate with agents to improve on 
existing processes and quality of 
customer service. A protocol for a 
regular forum will be prepared to 
ensure it is open and accessible. In 
preparing this the PSDM will liaise 
with agents.

Planning Services Development Manager Within next 3 months 
following key staff  
recruitment

None

15

Review the options outlined in 
appendix 4 on the type of pre 
application service that could be 
offered by the Council and design the 
advertised pre application service to 
applicants based on:  the priority that 
the Council wishes to give the pre 
application service; the development 
opportunities that are coming 
forward through the Local Plan and 
other inward investment 
opportunities; the staff resources that 
are and will be available to service the 
pre application service including the 
risk that the council wishes to take to 
fund posts through the pre 
application service.

Assistant Director Development has 
included a request for an uplift to the 
Planning Services staffing budget to 
fund a role which would have a pre‐
application service focus. This action 
will be progressed if funding approval 
given and successful appointment 
made.

Assistant Director Development Within 1 Month of 
appointment of new 
officer

Post fee costings ‐ 
2021/22 ‐ £32,000         
2022/23 ‐ £96,000         
Action ‐ no additional 
costs beyond post 
appointment

P
age  35



16

Review the existing menu of pre 
application services on offer so that it 
meets the requirements of the type of 
service that Eden wishes to provide 
for customers.  This could include a 
priority pre application service for 
specific applicants who will help the 
Council meet its Local Plan and 
corporate objectives in meeting the 
vision for Eden DC and the emerging 
new unitary authority. This should 
also include a review of those 
elements of the pre application 
service you wish to provide for free 
and ensure free pre applications can 
be clearly justified as being fair to all 
users of the pre application service.  
Many good examples of pre 
application services can be used to 
use as benchmarks including 
Plymouth City Council, Maidstone 
Borough Council, 

Assistant Director Development has 
included a request for an uplift to the 
Planning Services staffing budget to 
fund a role which would have a pre‐
application service focus. This action 
will be progressed by the new 
post/role if funding approval given 
and successful appointment made.

Assistant Director Development  Within 1 Month of 
appointment of new 
officer

Post costings ‐ 
2021/22 ‐ £24,000         
2022/23 ‐ £96,000         
Action ‐ no additional 
costs beyond post 
appointment

17

Review the preapplication  pricing 
structure to ensure it meets the 
actual cost of providing the service 
whilst also meeting the restrictions 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
on profit.  Support for doing this can 
be found in the PAS document 
Calculating the cost of pre application 
services.

Assistant Director Development has 
included a request for an uplift to the 
Planning Services staffing budget to 
fund a role which would have a pre‐
application service focus. This action 
could be progressed by the new 
post/role if funding approval given 
and successful appointment made.

Assistant Director Development  Within 1 Month of 
appointment of new 
officer

Post costings ‐ 
2021/22 ‐ £32,000         
2022/23 ‐ £96,000         
Action ‐ no additional 
costs beyond post 
appointment

P
age  36



18

Review the way that the pre 
application service is accessed and 
promoted on the Council website so 
that it meets the type of service that 
Eden will offer to applicants.  This 
should also include the ability to apply 
for a pre application service online 
rather than reliance on pdfs.  It should 
also include a set of clear and 
achievable performance standards 
that staff can meet.  These should be 
explained clearly to applicants and 
regularly reviewed so that evidence 
can be shown that they are being 
met.

Assistant Director Development has 
included a request for an uplift to the 
Planning Services staffing budget to 
fund a role which would have a pre‐
application service focus. This action 
could be progressed by the new 
post/role if funding approval given 
and successful appointment made.

Assistant Director Development  Within 1 Month of 
appointment of new 
officer

Post costings ‐ 
2021/22 ‐ £32,000         
2022/23 ‐ £96,000         
Action ‐ no additional 
costs beyond post 
appointment

19

Review the role of Member 
engagement in the pre application 
process in association with 
Recommendations 1 and 7 of the LGA 
Governance Review so that Members 
and Officers understand the 
appropriate stage in engaging in pre‐
application discussions and better 
appreciate the probity issues that 
surround engagement in influencing 
decisions prior to the formal decision 
making stage.  Reference to the PAS 
guide on Councillor involvement at 
pre application may provide some 
assistance.

Assistant Director Development has 
included a request for an uplift to the 
Planning Services staffing budget to 
fund a role which would have a pre‐
application service focus. This action 
will be progressed by the new 
post/role if funding approval given 
and successful appointment made.

Assistant Director Development  Within next 6 months 
depending upon 
funding.

Post costings ‐ 
2021/22 ‐ £32,000         
2022/23 ‐ £95,000         
Action ‐ no additional 
costs beyond post 
appointment

20

Review the current Planning 
Enforcement policy to include a 
prioritisation for each Enforcement 
case using appendix 5 for best 
practice examples.

The current Enforcement Plan can be 
reviewed and a scheme of 
prioritisation introduced. It is 
recommended this action is put on 
hold pending the outcome of the 
request for a budget uplift to fund 
additional enforcement posts.

Planning Services Development Manager Within next 3 months 
or appointment of 
additional 
enforcement staff

None

P
age  37



21

Use regular case review workshops 
involving managers and Planning 
Enforcement Officers to review 
existing caseloads and close inactive 
cases or those unlikely to lead to any 
action so that staff time is most 
effectively used, staff feel better 
supported and caseloads can be 
reduced to a more manageable level.

This recommendation has already 
been actioned. A regular monthly 
enforcement case review meeting has 
already been set up.

Planning Services Development Manager Ongoing None

22

Introduce a regular slot on Planning 
Committee agenda to promote the 
good work being undertaken by 
Planning Enforcement and to allow 
Members and the general public to 
better understand the workload of 
Planning Enforcement and the areas 
of Planning Enforcement that are 
being prioritised.  These reports 
should be crossed referenced by a 
clearly stated and achievable set of 
published service standards.

This recommendation has already 
been actioned. A quarterly 
performance report (including 
enforcement figures) was prepared 
and put before the members of the 
Planning Committee in November, 
and will continue throughout the 
year.

Planning Services Development Manager Ongoing None

23

In association with Recommendation 
13 of the LGA Governance Review 
reconsider the lines of management 
control for Planning Enforcement so 
more enforcement decision making is 
delegated from Planning Services 
Development Manager to a more 
junior level within the department.

A request has already been made to 
CLT for additional resources for the 
Planning Enforcement Team which 
would action this recommendation if 
approved. Awaiting feedback and 
approval.

Planning Services Development Manager Pending Proposed £150k fund 
for enforcement 
resources in 2022/23

24

As part of the wider LGR transition 
arrangements review the balance of 
resources within Development 
Management to consider whether 
enough resources are being placed in 
Planning Enforcement to meet the 
service standards set by the 
department.

A request has already been made to 
CLT for additional resources for the 
Planning Enforcement Team which 
would action this recommendation if 
approved. Awaiting feedback and 
approval.

Planning Services Development Manager Pending Proposed £150k fund 
for enforcement 
resources in 2022/23

P
age  38



25

As part of the wider LGR transition 
arrangements review the IT systems 
required to better ensure that there is 
an effective and resource efficient 
record keeping system in operation.  
As part of this work better use should 
be made of online systems to 
automate public requests, maximise 
self‐help for general enquiries and 
minimise multi handling.

The procurement of the new Planning 
System is ongoing.

Assistant Director Development  Within next 6 months Already in budget

26

Agree with the Planning Portfolio 
Holder a realistic and achievable 
series of proactive enforcement 
initiatives on frequently raised issues. 
The idea of this would be for it to act 
as a deterrent against some of the 
more harmful and persistent 
contraventions and therefore in time 
reduce the workload for Officers by 
promoting a zero‐tolerance approach 
to these planning breaches.

This recommendation ties in with the 
wider request for additional 
enforcement resources. Once 
approved this action can be 
considered further.

Planning Services Development Manager Within next 2 months 
of additional 
enforcement resource 
being appointed.

None

27

Review the use of conditions in 
planning application decisions so that 
they can be more effectively 
monitored and enforced when 
necessary.  The Planning Enforcement 
Officers should be engaged in sense 
checking the wording to ensure they 
are fit for purpose.  The review should 
focus particularly on the use of pre 
commencement conditions.

Standard conditions to be reviewed as 
part of the development of the new 
Planning IT System.

Planning Services Development Manager Within next 6 months  None

P
age  39



28

Review the mechanism for receiving 
S106 contributions agreed at planning 
approval stage.  Rather than relying 
on the Planning Enforcement Team to 
monitor these contributions we 
suggest that a proper governance 
system is put in place.  Further advice 
can be found on the PAS Developer 
Contributions webpage. 

A request has already been made for  
to appoint a specific S106 Monitoring 
Officer post. Awaiting approval

Assistant Director Development/Planning 
Services Development Manager

Within next 3 months. To be refunded from a 
percentage of planning 
agreement income  

29

Employ a suitably qualified specialist 
officer to develop BNG policy and 
guidance and lead on negotiations on 
all matters relating to ecological 
support and advice to Planners.  
Ideally this should be on a permanent 
basis, but in the interim whilst LGR is 
taking place a pragmatic solution 
could be the recruitment of a 
temporary post to ensure the 
emerging policies are suitably robust, 
clear guidance is developed and case 
officers are assisted during 
negotiations on individual 
development proposals.  As part of 
the LGR process the Council may want 
to consider joining with other local 
authorities in recruiting specialist 
support as part of a joint team.

Appoint ecology advisor Assistant Director Development  Subject to budget 
approval. Unknown at 
this time

£42,000

P
age  40



30

In association with the 
recommendations above on the pre 
application process we suggest that a 
key part of all relevant pre application 
discussions includes a focused session 
on BNG to ensure that BNG 
requirements are negotiated upfront 
with the applicant.  This is particularly 
relevant prior to BNG being 
mandatory through legislation.

a) The standard pre‐application 
responses can be updated to reflect 
generic advice, which the Planning 
Services Manager will action.                  
b) More detailed advice to specific 
queries will be subject to the 
appointment of an ecology officer as 
proposed above

Planning Services Development Manager    a) Within next 3 
months                           
b) Immediately on 
appointment of 
ecology resource 

a) No additional 
budget cost                     
b)See above cost 

31

Through the support of PAS nominate 
suitable representative from Eden BC 
to join local and national networks 
that are being formed to deliver BNG 
in the interim period before BNG 
becomes a mandatory statutory 
policy requirement ‐ expected to be 
Winter 2023 and to be confirmed via 
secondary legislation setting out 
details of Environment Act provisions.

Action subject to the appointment of 
an ecology officer as proposed above

Planning Services Development Manager Following 
appointment of 
Ecology resources

As above. No 
additional cost 

Already Actioned
To be Actioned
No Action 

P
age  41



Appendix 3 – Comments from the Planning Committee of 6 January 2022. 

Planning Committee noted the report and draft action plan and provide the following 

comments for consideration by Cabinet: 

The Committee endorse the proposed action plan and request that the following 

comments of Committee are taken into consideration by Cabinet and in 

implementing the plan: 

- That applicants on current applications should receive an update where 

delays have resulted and be informed of the reasons for this and the steps 

being taken to address this. 

- That the s106 monitoring function should be properly resourced, a robust 

monitoring procedure put in place and the annual Infrastructure Funding 

Statement reported to Planning Committee. 

- That the “meet the staff” sessions recommended at R8 of the review should 

be expanded to include all members of planning committee to improve officer 

member communication more widely and consideration be given to providing 

a forum for members to raise planning issues/ queries. 

- That the committee support R9 and in particular that case officers should 

present their own applications to committee to assist with better 

communications and so that more specific information is readily available at 

committee. 

- That the committee should receive regular enforcement updates, as proposed 

and actioned under R22. 

- That regular updates should be given to complainants and Councillors, as part 

of the enforcement process, on matters raised by them. 

- That steps should be taken to review and improve current routes for 

supporters and objectors on applications to make comments, so that these 

are clear and accessible. In particular this includes the ability of members to 

see all the consultation responses including objectors on the system. 

 

Page  42



Report No:  DoR01/22 

Eden District Council 

Cabinet 

18 January 2022 

Draft Budget Proposals 2022/23 & 
Impact on Medium Term Financial Plan 

Portfolio: Resources & Leader 

Report from: Interim Director of Resources 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 To detail the draft Budget Proposals for 2022/23 for consultation and current 
MTFP for 2022/23 – 2024/25 

2 Recommendation 

It is recommended to: 

2.1 Note the implications of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 
as set out in section 5 of the report; 

2.2 Consider and recommend the draft Revenue Budget 2022/23 for consultation 
as set out at Appendix 2; 

2.3 Note the revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 at Appendix 
3; 

2.4 Note the General Fund and Revenue Reserves movements for 2021/22 to 
2025/26 at Appendix 4; 

2.5 Note the Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2025/26, as set out at Appendix 5: 

3 Background 

3.1 The Council set its budget in February 2021 with savings targets required to 
achieve a sustainable medium term forecast. The landscape since the budget 
was set has changed significantly with the Government decision to implement 
Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria.  

3.2  The decision will result in two new Unitary Councils for Cumbria incorporating 
all County and District Council services based upon an East (Barrow, Eden 
and South Lakeland) West (Allerdale, Carlisle and Copeland) split. 

3.3 The Covid19 pandemic also continues to impact upon service delivery and the 
ability for the Council to operate and function normally. 

3.4 It was clear that the factors above had implications on the budgets for 
2021/22, which led to the production of a report to Council in November 2021.  
The report’s primary purpose was to set a Revised Estimate 2021/21 for both 

Page  43

Agenda Item 8



Capital and Revenue and to establish a MTFP based upon the revised 
revenue estimate. 

3.5 The MTFP showed a small surplus over the medium term and forma the basis 
for the draft proposals for the 2022/23 budget. 

4 Overview & Guidelines 

 Overview 

4.1 The Council’s constitution stipulates that the Cabinet must put its draft budget 
proposals forward for consultation and formal scrutiny.  

4.2 The formal budget setting process began in November 2021 with the 
presentation and approval of the Quarter 2 monitoring, revised budget and 
MTFP to Cabinet and Council. The preparation of this report took into account 
known and expected changes in the 2021/22 year and future years and 
therefore presented a base for the more detailed work on the budget for 
2022/23. 

 Budget Guidelines 

4.3 It is important for the Council to have a strong and robust framework for 
setting its budget and Medium Term Financial Plan. It is equally important that 
this fits with the Councils Corporate Plan. 

4.4 The budget guidelines are included at Appendix 1 for Reference. 

5 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 

5.1 On the 18 December 2021, the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Levelling Up Housing and Communities made a statement on the provisional 
local government finance settlement for 2022/23. The final settlement is likely 
to be announced towards the end of January 2022. 

5.2 The statement sets out the Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment, which 
is the replacement for Business Rates Retained along with the Rural Services 
Delivery Grant and New Homes Bonus (NHB). 

5.3 In addition, the Government has confirmed the extension, for 2022/23, of the 
Cumbria Business Rates Pool of which the Council is a member. 

5.4 The settlement is again a one year deal with the Fair Funding Reforms 
suspended for at least a further year due to the Covid19 pandemic. 

5.5 The funding related to the settlement is largely in line with previous years. 
There is however an additional services grant. 

5.6 The table below sets out the funding compared against the original forecast 
for 2022/23. Future year’s settlements assumptions are fixed for inclusion in 
the MTFP. 

Page  44



Grants and Funding
Forecast 

2022/23

Settlement 

2022/23

Variance 

2022/23

£000 £000 £000

Business Rates Funding 3,555 3,555 0

Rural Services Delivery Grant 711 711 0

New Homes Bonus 232 386 (154)

Lower Tier Services Grant 0 77 (77)

Services Grant 0 12 (12)

Total 4,498 4,741 (243)  

5.7 In addition, EDC has been awarded £1,029,778 from the COVID-19 Additional 
Relief Fund (CARF). The fund will be available to support those businesses 
affected by the pandemic but that are ineligible for existing support linked to 
business rates. So we are looking at businesses that aren’t retail, leisure or 
hospitality.  

5.8 The Council operates the fund on an Agency basis so it sits outside of the 
revenue budget and hence isn't included above. 

6   Council Tax 2021/22 and 2022/23  

6.1  The current level of Council Tax for the Eden District part is £200.75 for a 

band D property. The band D Council Tax was increased by the maximum £5 

(2.6%) in 2020/21 and 2021/22.  

6.2  The council tax base sets out the number of Band D Equivalent properties in 
a council area, after accounting for discounts and recovery rates. 

 The table below shows the projected and actual council tax base figures for 
Eden: 

 

Year Taxbase

2020/21 20,741

2021/22 Projected 20,741

2021/22 As at December 2021 20,677

2022/23 Projected 20,832
 

6.3 The reduction in 2021/22 was created due to holiday properties moving from 
council tax to business rates to take advantage of grants available from 
government in relation to Covid19. This is expected to have settled now.  

6.4 Although collection rates in 2020/21 were down 1% on 2019/20 at 98%, the 
recovery rate is expected to return to 99% in 2021/22 and 2022/23. The 
projections have therefore been made on that basis. 

6.5  The options for Eden set by Government without the requirement for a local 
referendum are again an increase of 2% or £5, whichever is greater.  

Page  45



6.6 A £5 increase in the band D would equate to 2.6% and would raise £104,000 
in 2022/23. The increase would cost a Band D taxpayer less than 10p per 
week.  

6.7 An increase in Council Tax of the maximum allowed level would increase 
income in 2022/23 by £104k.  

6.8 There are however a number of other factors to consider when determining 
whether to increase Council Tax. LGR means that 2022/23 is the final tax 
setting year for the Council. EDC’s finances are in a strong position given it is 
debt free and has healthy reserves and balances to call on. 

6.9 A proposal for a freeze in Council Tax for 2022/23 could therefore be 
considered as part of the budget consultation. The budget figures provided as 
part of this proposal do not include a Council Tax increase. 

6.10 Finance Scrutiny Committee recommended, at their meeting of 4 January 
2021, that no Council Tax increase be applied. 

7 Revenue Budget 2020/21 & MTFP  

7.1  The detailed Revenue Budget proposals are set out at Appendix 2, the 
amended MTFP is at Appendix 3 and Earmarked Reserves at Appendix 4.  

7.2  In November 2021, the Council approved a revised MTFP. The table below 
shows the proposed budget for 2022/23 compared to the MTFP approved by 
Council at that meeting. 

 

£’000 Description

Net Cost of Services per MTFP 25 

November 2021
10,199 As approved at Council 25.11.21

Local Government Re-organisation 1,600
Spend/payment of the reserve for Local 

Government RE-organisation

Covid Support grants 200

Grant income for EDC included in the 

revenue budget for 21/22 but not expected 

to be received in 2022/23

Other 163
Other changes due to inflation, savings and 

changes

Proposed Base Budget 12,162

Corporate Priorities 2022/23 1,200 See table at 7.6 below

Net Cost of Services Proposed 13,362  

7.3  The proposed Net Cost of Services is split by service in Appendix 2. A 
summary of this appendix is below to show the proposed budget by groups of 
services: 

Page  46



Services

Revised 

Budget 

21/22

Proposed 

Base Budget 

22/23

Pressures & 

Priorities & 

Adjustments 

22/23

Proposed 

NCOS 22/23 Movement 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive Directorate 203 306 0 306 103

Local Government Reorganisation 0 1,600 0 1,600 1,600

Interim Director of Resources (47) 97 0 97 144

Finance & HR 642 674 133 807 165

Legal & Democratic Services 1,041 990 40 1,030 (11)

Customers & Performance 568 1,235 0 1,235 667

IT Services 702 673 25 698 (4)

Deputy Chief Executive 184 (38) 0 (38) (222)

Communities 1,574 1,447 20 1,467 (107)

Delivery 3,679 3,344 465 3,809 130

Development 1,546 1,835 517 2,352 806

TOTAL 10,092 12,163 1,200 13,363 3,271  

7.4 The pressures, priorities and Adjustments are proposed to be funded through 
General Fund reserves. 

Corporate Priorities for 2022/23 

7.5 In proposing the budget for 2022/23, the Cabinet have considered the 
pressures on the council due to Covid19 and also the timescales available for 
corporate priorities due to Local Government Reorganisation. One off events 
in 2022/23 have also been considered. 

7.6  The table below sets out the areas, which if approved, would be funded 
through earmarked reserves created in 2021/22. 

Name Description 22/23

Open Space / Play Area Improvements

Additional funding for Open Space and Play Areas owned 

and managed by Eden District Council to maintain and/or 

renovate

£50,000

Queen’s Platinum Jubilee 2022
Funding to support community events in relation to the 

celebrating of the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee
£20,000

Cultural Development Initiatives Subject to further cabinet approval £235,000

Business Support Consultant on Economic 

Development
Extension of contract to 31.3.23 £36,000

Development Management

Additional costs of staffing due to backlog and staff 

market pressures on planning, enforcement and Ecology 

Officer

£431,000

Local Plan Review
Additional funding for the review of the Local Plan to 

reach deadlines in 22/23
£50,000

Zero Carbon Biodiversity intiatives Subject to further cabinet approval £100,000

Resources

Additional staffing costs in Resources to support 

Licencing, Health & Safety and Finance to ensure that 

legal obligations are met. This is partly due to difficulties 

with recruitment due to pending LGR.

£163,000

Officer Training & Development

Increase in budget to support Eden staff toward the Local 

Government Reorganisation and support recruitment and 

retention

£50,000

Single Site Project
Non-capital costs of moving staff into a single site during 

2022/23
£40,000

Microsoft Licences
Increased licencing costs due to old systems which have 

been delayed for upgrade due to Covid19
£25,000

£1,200,000

 

Page  47



8 Reserves 

8.1 A detailed schedule of the movement in revenue reserves and balances is set 
out at Appendix 4. 

8.2 Maintaining a robust level of reserves is an essential part of maintaining a 
sustainable medium term financial forecast.  

8.3 The level of a Council’s reserves reflect their ability to deal with unforeseen 
events and unexpected financial pressures in any particular year and are a 
key indicator of the financial resilience of the organisation.  

8.4 There is no current statutory minimum for the level of reserves and instead the 
Section 151 Officer has the responsibility of advising on an adequate level. 
Previous external guidance has suggested 10% of net budget.  

8.4 At 31 March 2021 general reserves were at £3.024m, 33% of net cost of 
services budget. With the above proposals, the level of general reserves at 
31 March 2023 is proposed to be £2.02m, 21% of base net cost of services for 
2023/24, which the section 151 officer considers to be more than adequate. 

Movements in Revenue Reserves 

8.5  The table below shows the movements in General Fund Balance and 
Revenue Reserves due to the proposed budget. 

Balance Balance 

31/03/2022 Out In 31/03/2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Balance 3,108 (1,182) 94 2,020

Revenue Reserves

Capital Funding Reserve 835 (460) 0 375

Transformation Reserve 450 (450) 0 0

Heart of Cumbria Loan 1,197 (207) 0 990

Eden Local Plan Reserve 243 (59) 100 284

Corporate Priorities Reserve 1,050 (2,250) 1,200 0

LGR Implementation Reserve 1,600 (1,600) 0 0

Leisure Management Reserve 0 0 200 200

Others 2,659 0 0 2,659

Total Revenue Reserves 8,034 (5,026) 1,500 4,508

Budget 

 

9 Capital Programme 2022/23 – 2025/26  

9.1  The Capital Programme proposals for consultation are set out in Appendix 5.  

9.2 The programme is unchanged from the agreed Capital Programme approved 
by Council on 25 November 2021. 

10 Policy Framework 

10.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

Page  48



 Creative 

10.2 The annual budget forms an essential part of the Council’s budgetary and 
policy framework 

11 Consultation 

11.1 The Executive have been consulted on the report and the Finance Scrutiny 
Committee convened to make initial considerations based on the revised 
MTFP from November 2021. The Finance Scrutiny committee have set up a 
task and Finish Group to scrutinise the budget in detail before approval by 
Council. The report forms the first part of the formal budget setting process 
and the budget will be consulted upon publicly once approved 

12 Implications 

12.1 Financial and Resources 

12.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019.  

12.1.2 The nature of the report means that Financial and Resources implications are 
dealt with throughout the body of the report. 

12.2 Legal 

12.2.1 The Council is mandated to set a balanced budget, explaining how 
expenditure is funded and the impact upon reserves and balances 

12.2.2 The report complies with statutory timescales for the setting of the Council’s 
budget and the Council Tax 

12.3 Human Resources 

12.3.1 There are no direct Human Resource implications 

12.4 Environmental 

12.4.1 There are no direct environmental implications. 

12.5 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications 

Page  49



12.6 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

The continuation of 
Covid19 creates 
uncertainty in the short 
term on priority 
progression, costs and 
staffing. This could affect 
the budget either 
adversely or short term 
favourably 

Decreased ability to plan 
in advance 

Budget setting process 
scrutinised including 
stress testing. 

Budget monitoring 
accurate and timely to 
lead to pro-active 
decision making in a 
timely manner. 

13 Other Options Considered 

13.1 No other options have been considered 

14 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

14.1 To confirm that their budget plans have been correctly interpreted and that 
the proposed budget reflects their intended plans for 2022/23. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 7/1/22 

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 10/1/22 

Background Papers: None 

Appendices Appendix 1 – Budget Guidelines 
 Appendix 2 – Revenue Budget Proposals 
 Appendix 3 – Medium Term Financial Forecast 
 Appendix 4 – Revenue Reserves 
 Appendix 5 – Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2025/26 

Contact Officer: Paul Sutton, Interim Director of Resources 

  

Page  50



 

 

Appendix 1 

GUIDELINES FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE 2022/23 
BUDGET  

Principles   

• Set a Balanced Budget with a sustainable Medium Term Forecast;  

• Protect Frontline Services;  

• Focus attention on Corporate Plan priorities and improving performance;  

These budget guidelines have been developed within a consistent corporate 
framework to ensure:   

• implementation of agreed savings and efficiency proposals;  

• resources are allocated to Council priorities;  

• inappropriate competition between services for resource allocations is 

minimised;  

• a transparent method for charging a fair cost between internal Council services.   

The guidelines are designed to positively encourage managers and elected 
members to do the following:   

• bring forward ideas and options to make more effective use of existing 

resources, clearly identifying how the ideas may develop over a 3-year period, 

including any requirements for up-front investment.   

• link the budget setting process to Service Plans and the requirement for the 

identification of options, which will produce efficiency savings.   

• focus attention on corporate and service priorities and improving performance.   

Budget Deliverables   

1. Prepare and submit draft revenue estimates for 2022/23 and the next 4 years (5 

year forecast) which fully reflect the service priority and consultation findings 

and match the current duration of the MTRP.   

2. Prepare and submit a draft 5 year capital programme.  All schemes to carry a 

full project appraisal including strategic objective, priority, value for money 

assessment, and details of any revenue impacts. In particular the phasing of 

expenditure over the life of the project, so as to minimise slippage.   

Budget Timetable   

The revenue and capital budget must be agreed by full Council before 11 March 
each year. The 2022/23 budget will be considered at Council on 24 February 
2022.  

 

Page  51



Revenue Budget Guidelines   

The guidelines below are set out against a backdrop of single year settlement 
Government funding, combined with significant pressure on the Council’s budget 
due to the current and anticipated ongoing impacts of the Covid19 pandemic.  The 
level of pressure on staff due directly and indirectly to Local Government 
Reorganisation will affect the ability to perform and should be taken into account 
when setting budgets. 

To achieve the principles above managers will need to review their budgets in 
significant detail and follow the guidelines provided below.  

Income   

1. When building income budgets it is essential that a realistic assessment of 

income achievement is undertaken. Budget holders should use their knowledge 

of past trends and current market conditions in assessing income levels for the 

future and the scope for increases in fees and charges.   

2. It is important to look at not only financial information but also non-financial 

information such as activity data on customer usage and prior year’s trends to 

help build realistic income estimates.   

3. Variations to approved budgets for income must be clearly identified and 

explained.  

4. Variations in fees and charges need to be considered taking account of 

corporate priorities to ensure that they are consistent with these.   

Growth   

1. The net impact of all growth items should be ZERO.   

2. Growth arising from changes in legislation / regulation or service planning will 

ONLY be allowed if it is fully funded by transferring budget within the service or 

directorate. Transfers will only be approved if they are from demonstrably lower 

priority services.   

3. Growth or one-off expenditure requests will be considered by Cabinet and should 

contain information on effects if not funded.   

Financial assumptions   

Accurate financial assumptions are the bedrock of a robust and sustainable budget 
and should be used in estimates for expenditure and income over the medium 
term.   

• Provision for general inflation is included in line with the table below but should 

only be applied to those budgets affected by inflation:   

CPI Forecast (OBR)   M TFP  

2021  0.5%  2021/22   0.5%  

2022  1.8%  2022/23   1.8%  

2023  2.0%  2023/24   2.0%  

Page  52



2024  2.2%  2024/25   2.2%  

2025 (unavailable)  -  2025/26   2.2%  

 

• Provision for inflation in Employee costs is included at the following levels:   

Year  Increase  

2021/22  0%  

2022/23  1.75%  

2023/24  1.5%  

2024/25  1.5%  

2025/26  1.5%  

• Interest rates should be forecasted as below:   

Year 
Bank of 

England 
Arlingclose 

2021/22 0.1% 0.1% 

2022/23 0.1% 0.1% 

2023/24 0.1% 0.1% 

2024/25 0.1% 0.1% 

2025/26 0.1% 0.1% 

All financial indices above are subject to further review in the budget process and 
may be subject to change.   

Budget Process: Base Budget Review and Savings   

The budget for 2022/23 will be based on the same methodology as for 2021/22 and 
will be based on a Base Budget Review (BBR) process.   

The BBR uses historical data, but does not presume that the service needs the 
same resources and budgets.   

The following factors will be used to produce a 3-year Directorate budget:   

• Trend Analysis – variance review of the last three years expenditure / income to 

identify any that should be captured in the budget.   

• In Year Monitoring – what does the current budget monitoring identify in terms of 

variances that should be captured in the budget;   

• Challenge – Finance staff will work with budget holders using the above tools to 

provide support and challenge to ensure budgets are based upon need.   

Page  53



Capital Programme  

Capital resources are reducing over the life of the MTFP. The development of 5-
year rolling capital programme and resources should be drawn up within the 
context of the following objectives:   

1. The generation of additional reserves and balances, with appropriate 

contingencies.   

2. Opportunities to invest to save.   

3. Maintaining Council assets and the Council’s infrastructure to agreed standards.   

Procurement   

When setting both the 2022/23 budget and future years, regard should be given 
to the Corporate Procurement Strategy and the Council’s Contract Procedure 
rules. In particular, budgets and projections should be based on Corporate and 
agreed framework contracts.   

Risk   

The budget process is fundamental to the Council’s financial management regime 
and Members need to be assured that all pertinent issues are properly considered 
when making key decisions on the Council’s future finances.   

In drawing up revenue budget proposals, risk assessments should be undertaken to 
test the robustness of proposals and to identify key factors which may impact on the 
proposals put forward. Where appropriate action plans should be put in place to 
manage/mitigate the risks identified – this may include a risk provision within the 
budget which can be calculated by your service accountant.   

With a £10m Revenue Budget covering all the Council’s services and activities, 
the potential for an issue to be missed or not considered properly will always be 
there. The budget process is designed to minimise this risk and throughout the 
process there are frequent meetings with CLT and the Executive to progress any 
changes and developments. 

Page  54



APPENDIX 2

Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Chief Executive Income 0 0 0 0 0

Chief Executive Total 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060 20%
Corporate Costs Expenditure 5,850 6,230 0 6,230 380
Corporate Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0

Other Chief Executive Costs Total 5,850 6,230 0 6,230 380 6%
Non Service Specific Expenditure (15,000) 45,000 0 45,000 60,000

mj Non Service Specific Income 0 0 0 0 0
 Non Service Specific Total (15,000) 45,000 0 45,000 60,000 -400%

Corporate Priorities Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Priorities Income 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Priorities Costs Total 0 0 0 0 0
Local Government Reorganisation Expenditure 0 1,600,000 0 1,600,000 1,600,000
Local Government Reorganisation Income 0 0 0 0 0

Local Government Reorganisation Total 0 1,600,000 0 1,600,000 1,600,000

202,729 1,906,169 0 1,906,169 1,703,440

Resources Directorate Interim Director of Resources Interim Director of Resources Expenditure 173,662 97,250 0 97,250 (76,412)
Interim Director of Resources Income 0 0 0 0 0

Director of Corporate Services Total 173,662 97,250 0 97,250 (76,412) -44%
Emergency Planning and Works Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Emergency Planning and Works Income (220,856) 0 0 0 220,856

Emergency Planning and Works Total (220,856) 0 0 0 220,856 -100%
Ass Dir Finance & HR Financial Services Expenditure 537,711 494,960 83,000 577,960 40,249

Financial Services Income 5,500 5,500 0 5,500 0
Financial Services Total 543,211 500,460 83,000 583,460 40,249 7%

Treasury Management Expenditure 39,730 39,730 0 39,730 0
Treasury Management Income (342,380) (301,170) 0 (301,170) 41,210

Treasury Management Total (302,650) (261,440) 0 (261,440) 41,210 -14%
Insurance Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Insurance Income 0 0 0 0 0

Insurance Total 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Costs Expenditure 101,000 134,240 0 134,240 33,240
Corporate Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Costs Total 101,000 134,240 0 134,240 33,240 33%
Central Expenses Expenditure 52,620 52,620 0 52,620 0

EDEN DISTRICT COUNCIL
Revenue Budget 2022/23

SUMMARY BY SERVICE AREA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE TOTAL

P
age  55



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Central Expenses Income 0 0 0 0 0

Central Expenses Total 52,620 52,620 0 52,620 0 0%
Human Resources Expenditure 189,451 189,500 0 189,500 49
Human Resources Income 4,420 4,420 0 4,420 0

Human Resources Total 193,871 193,920 0 193,920 49 0%
Staff Development Expenditure 54,000 54,000 50,000 104,000 50,000
Staff Development Income 0 0 0 0 0

Staff Development Total 54,000 54,000 50,000 104,000 50,000 93%
Ass Dir Legal & Democratic Services Committee and Member Costs Expenditure 257,540 250,540 0 250,540 (7,000)

Committee and Member Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0
Committee and Member Costs Total 257,540 250,540 0 250,540 (7,000) -3%

Legal Services Expenditure 674,549 628,230 40,000 668,230 (6,319)
Legal Services Income (7,670) (7,670) 0 (7,670) 0

Legal Services Total 666,879 620,560 40,000 660,560 (6,319) -1%
Elections Expenditure 21,920 23,290 0 23,290 1,370
Elections Income 0 0 0 0 0

Elections Total 21,920 23,290 0 23,290 1,370 6%
Register of Electors Expenditure 74,900 75,760 0 75,760 860
Register of Electors Income (1,680) (1,680) 0 (1,680) 0

Register of Electors Total 73,220 74,080 0 74,080 860 1%
Civic Duties Expenditure 4,370 4,370 0 4,370 0
Civic Duties Income 0 0 0 0 0

Civic Duties Total 4,370 4,370 0 4,370 0 0%
Corporate Costs Expenditure 12,880 12,900 0 12,900 20
Corporate Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Costs Total 12,880 12,900 0 12,900 20 0%
Member Development & Training Expenditure 4,160 4,160 0 4,160 0
Member Development & Training Income 0 0 0 0 0

Member Development & Training Total 4,160 4,160 0 4,160 0 0%
Ass Dir Customers & Performance Central Expenses Expenditure 68,930 69,710 0 69,710 780

Central Expenses Income (400) (400) 0 (400) 0
Central Expenses Total 68,530 69,310 0 69,310 780 1%

Benefits Expenditure 6,740,340 6,740,340 0 6,740,340 0
Benefits Income (6,836,230) (6,839,320) 0 (6,839,320) (3,090)

Benefits Total (95,890) (98,980) 0 (98,980) (3,090) 3%
Council Tax Benefits Expenditure 6,430 6,430 0 6,430 0
Council Tax Benefits Income (43,000) (43,000) 0 (43,000) 0

Council Tax Benefits Total (36,570) (36,570) 0 (36,570) 0 0%
Revenue & Benefits Expenditure 853,815 762,940 0 762,940 (90,875)
Revenue & Benefits Income 18,600 18,600 0 18,600 0

Revenue & Benefits Total 872,415 781,540 0 781,540 (90,875) -10%
Communications Services Expenditure 12,290 10,780 0 10,780 (1,510)
Communications Services Income 0 0 0 0 0

Communications Services Total 12,290 10,780 0 10,780 (1,510) -12%

P
age  56



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Collection of Local Taxation Expenditure 21,150 29,820 0 29,820 8,670
Collection of Local Taxation Income (176,030) (176,030) 0 (176,030) 0

Collection of Local Taxation Total (154,880) (146,210) 0 (146,210) 8,670 -6%
Discretionary Housing Payment Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Discretionary Housing Payment Income 0 0 0 0 0

Discretionary Housing Payment Total 0 0 0 0 0
One Eden Programme Expenditure (749,130) 0 0 0 749,130
One Eden Programme Income 0 0 0 0 0

One Eden Programme Total (749,130) 0 0 0 749,130 -100%
Universal Credit Expenditure 11,850 0 0 0 (11,850)
Universal Credit Income (11,850) 0 0 0 11,850

Universal Credit Total 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Services Expenditure 678,394 682,874 0 682,874 4,480
Corporate Services Income (27,230) (27,910) 0 (27,910) (680)

Corporate Services Total 651,164 654,964 0 654,964 3,800 1%
I T Services Information Technology Expenditure 638,170 636,110 25,000 661,110 22,940

Information Technology Income (22,500) (49,520) 0 (49,520) (27,020)
Information Technology Total 615,670 586,590 25,000 611,590 (4,080) -1%

Corporate Costs Expenditure 82,470 82,470 0 82,470 0
Corporate Costs Income 3,600 3,600 0 3,600 0

Corporate Costs Total 86,070 86,070 0 86,070 0 0%
Repairs & Renewals Fund Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Repairs & Renewals Fund Income 0 0 0 0 0

Repairs & Renewals Fund Total 0 0 0 0 0

2,905,496 3,668,444 198,000 3,866,444 960,948

Deputy Chief Executive Directorate Deputy Chief Executive Deputy Chief Executive Expenditure 183,550 183,660 0 183,660 110
Deputy Chief Executive Income 0 0 0 0 0

Director of People & Place Total 183,550 183,660 0 183,660 110 0%
Heart of Cumbria Expenditure 0 90,670 0 90,670 90,670
Heart of Cumbria Income 0 (311,900) 0 (311,900) (311,900)

Heart of Cumbria Total 0 (221,230) 0 (221,230) (221,230)
Ass Dir Communities Animal Licensing Expenditure 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 0

Animal Licensing Income (6,500) (6,500) 0 (6,500) 0
Animal Licensing Total (4,500) (4,500) 0 (4,500) 0 0%

Community Wardens Expenditure 26,320 28,280 0 28,280 1,960
Community Wardens Income (2,400) (2,700) 0 (2,700) (300)

Community Wardens Total 23,920 25,580 0 25,580 1,660 7%
Environmental Services Expenditure 1,317,376 1,191,910 0 1,191,910 (125,466)
Environmental Services Income 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Services Total 1,317,376 1,191,910 0 1,191,910 (125,466) -10%
Food Safety Expenditure 3,500 3,940 0 3,940 440

RESOURCES DIRECTORATE TOTAL

P
age  57



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Food Safety Income 0 0 0 0 0

Food Safety Total 3,500 3,940 0 3,940 440 13%
Health & Safety Expenditure 100 200 0 200 100
Health & Safety Income 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety Total 100 200 0 200 100 100%
Home Improvement Agency Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Home Improvement Agency Income 0 0 0 0 0

Home Improvement Agency Total 0 0 0 0 0
Homelessness Expenditure 552,610 484,280 0 484,280 (68,330)
Homelessness Income (122,000) (165,440) 0 (165,440) (43,440)

Homelessness Total 430,610 318,840 0 318,840 (111,770) -26%
Housing Standards Expenditure 750 750 0 750 0
Housing Standards Income (1,440) (830) 0 (830) 610

Housing Standards Total (690) (80) 0 (80) 610 -88%
Investigation Of Nuisances Expenditure 2,110 2,310 0 2,310 200
Investigation Of Nuisances Income (1,700) (8,000) 0 (8,000) (6,300)

Investigation Of Nuisances Total 410 (5,690) 0 (5,690) (6,100) -1488%
Licensing Expenditure 16,660 16,660 0 16,660 0
Licensing Income (119,380) (119,380) 0 (119,380) 0

Licensing Total (102,720) (102,720) 0 (102,720) 0 0%
Other Environmental Health Expenditure 4,700 4,700 0 4,700 0
Other Environmental Health Income (4,190) (2,390) 0 (2,390) 1,800

Other Environmental Health Total 510 2,310 0 2,310 1,800 353%
Housing Delivery Expenditure 137,210 25,750 0 25,750 (111,460)
Housing Delivery Income (225,000) 0 0 0 225,000

Housing Delivery Total (87,790) 25,750 0 25,750 113,540 -129%
Pest Control Expenditure 12,090 12,530 0 12,530 440
Pest Control Income 0 0 0 0 0

Pest Control Total 12,090 12,530 0 12,530 440 4%
Pollution Control Expenditure 6,660 7,400 0 7,400 740
Pollution Control Income (16,600) (19,100) 0 (19,100) (2,500)

Pollution Control Total (9,940) (11,700) 0 (11,700) (1,760) 18%
Queens Platinum Jubilee 2022 Expenditure 0 0 20,000 20,000 20,000
Queens Platinum Jubilee 2022 Income 0 0 0 0 0

Pollution Control Total 0 0 20,000 20,000 20,000
Renovation Grant Scheme Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Renovation Grant Scheme Income 0 0 0 0 0

Renovation Grant Scheme Total 0 0 0 0 0
Water Sampling Expenditure 23,000 23,000 0 23,000 0
Water Sampling Income (32,000) (32,000) 0 (32,000) 0

Water Sampling Total (9,000) (9,000) 0 (9,000) 0 0%
Retention/ Bond Account Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Retention/ Bond Account Income 0 0 0 0 0

Retention/ Bond Account Total 0 0 0 0 0

P
age  58



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Holding Accounts Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Holding Accounts Income 0 0 0 0 0

Holding Accounts Total 0 0 0 0 0
Ass Dir Delivery Administrative Buildings Expenditure 316,500 372,285 40,000 412,285 95,785

Administrative Buildings Income 20,500 20,500 0 20,500 0
Administrative Buildings Total 337,000 392,785 40,000 432,785 95,785 28%

Appleby Fair Expenditure 34,780 37,210 0 37,210 2,430
Appleby Fair Income (840) (1,100) 0 (1,100) (260)

Appleby Fair Total 33,940 36,110 0 36,110 2,170 6%
Arts and Leisure Expenditure 180,450 130,580 235,000 365,580 185,130
Arts and Leisure Income (15,200) (3,500) 0 (3,500) 11,700

Arts and Leisure Total 165,250 127,080 235,000 362,080 196,830 119%
Building Regulations Expenditure 311,773 312,210 0 312,210 437
Building Regulations Income (251,200) (256,000) 0 (256,000) (4,800)

Building Regulations Total 60,573 56,210 0 56,210 (4,363) -7%
Cemeteries Expenditure 132,240 134,830 0 134,830 2,590
Cemeteries Income (108,580) (108,790) 0 (108,790) (210)

Cemeteries Total 23,660 26,040 0 26,040 2,380 10%
Closed Church Yards Expenditure 25,490 26,010 0 26,010 520
Closed Church Yards Income 0 0 0 0 0

Closed Church Yards Total 25,490 26,010 0 26,010 520 2%
Community Development & Engagement Expenditure 164,290 161,680 0 161,680 (2,610)
Community Development & Engagement Income 0 0 0 0 0

Community Development & Engagement Total 164,290 161,680 0 161,680 (2,610) -2%
Corporate Procurement Costs Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Procurement Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Procurement Costs Total 0 0 0 0 0
Emergency Planning and Works Expenditure 32,910 34,880 0 34,880 1,970
Emergency Planning and Works Income 0 0 0 0 0

Emergency Planning and Works Total 32,910 34,880 0 34,880 1,970 6%
Footway Lighting Expenditure 117,660 130,670 0 130,670 13,010
Footway Lighting Income (15,880) (15,880) 0 (15,880) 0

Footway Lighting Total 101,780 114,790 0 114,790 13,010 13%
Health & Safety Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Health & Safety Income 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety Total 0 0 0 0 0
Industrial Estates Expenditure 10,870 11,410 0 11,410 540
Industrial Estates Income (121,280) (121,320) 0 (121,320) (40)

Industrial Estates Total (110,410) (109,910) 0 (109,910) 500 0%
Land Management Expenditure 100,780 94,390 0 94,390 (6,390)
Land Management Income (737,530) (904,000) 0 (904,000) (166,470)

Land Management Total (636,750) (809,610) 0 (809,610) (172,860) 27%
Eden Leisure Centre & Appleby Swimming P Expenditure 482,580 241,400 0 241,400 (241,180)
Eden Leisure Centre & Appleby Swimming P Income 211,380 213,880 0 213,880 2,500

P
age  59



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Eden Leisure Centre & Appleby Swimming P Total 693,960 455,280 0 455,280 (238,680) -34%

Low Carbon Initiatives Expenditure 2,300 2,300 100,000 102,300 100,000
Low Carbon Initiatives Income 0 0 0 0 0

Low Carbon Initiatives Total 2,300 2,300 100,000 102,300 100,000 4348%
Other Building Control Expenditure 3,900 3,900 0 3,900 0
Other Building Control Income (3,100) (3,100) 0 (3,100) 0

Other Building Control Total 800 800 0 800 0 0%
Other Environmental Health Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Other Environmental Health Income 0 0 0 0 0

Other Environmental Health Total 0 0 0 0 0
Vehicle Parking Off Street Expenditure 150,370 148,930 0 148,930 (1,440)
Vehicle Parking Off Street Income (333,420) (334,470) 0 (334,470) (1,050)

Vehicle Parking Off Street Total (183,050) (185,540) 0 (185,540) (2,490) 1%
Parks and Open Spaces Expenditure 370,750 416,600 50,000 466,600 95,850
Parks and Open Spaces Income (29,990) (30,200) 0 (30,200) (210)

Parks and Open Spaces Total 340,760 386,400 50,000 436,400 95,640 28%
Provision of Ameneties Expenditure 13,420 13,320 0 13,320 (100)
Provision of Ameneties Income (4,600) (4,600) 0 (4,600) 0

Provision of Ameneties Total 8,820 8,720 0 8,720 (100) -1%
Sustainability Fund - COP26 Expenditure 40,000 160,000 0 160,000 120,000
Sustainability Fund - COP26 Income 0 0 0 0 0

Sustainability Fund - COP26 Total 40,000 160,000 0 160,000 120,000 300%
Technical Services Expenditure 724,693 664,930 40,000 704,930 (19,763)
Technical Services Income 0 0 0 0 0

Technical Services Total 724,693 664,930 40,000 704,930 (19,763) -3%
Public Conveniences Expenditure 181,800 132,120 0 132,120 (49,680)
Public Conveniences Income 22,390 22,390 0 22,390 0

Public Conveniences Total 204,190 154,510 0 154,510 (49,680) -24%
Recycling Expenditure 1,025,990 1,064,030 0 1,064,030 38,040
Recycling Income (720,560) (713,200) 0 (713,200) 7,360

Recycling Total 305,430 350,830 0 350,830 45,400 15%
Refuse Collection Expenditure 890,730 912,650 0 912,650 21,920
Refuse Collection Income (30,200) (35,800) 0 (35,800) (5,600)

Refuse Collection Total 860,530 876,850 0 876,850 16,320 2%
Street Cleaning Expenditure 324,870 368,090 0 368,090 43,220
Street Cleaning Income 28,100 (9,400) 0 (9,400) (37,500)

Street Cleaning Total 352,970 358,690 0 358,690 5,720 2%
Central Expenses Expenditure 21,720 21,720 0 21,720 0
Central Expenses Income 0 0 0 0 0

Central Expenses Total 21,720 21,720 0 21,720 0 0%
Corporate Costs Expenditure 107,830 32,830 0 32,830 (75,000)
Corporate Costs Income 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Costs Total 107,830 32,830 0 32,830 (75,000) -70%
Ass Dir Development Commercial Services Expenditure 427,139 227,010 277,000 504,010 76,871

P
age  60



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060
Commercial Services Income 0 0 0 0 0

Commercial Services Total 427,139 227,010 277,000 504,010 76,871 18%
Environmental Enhancement & Conservation Expenditure 40,180 43,080 0 43,080 2,900
Environmental Enhancement & Conservation Income 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Enhancement & Conservation Total 40,180 43,080 0 43,080 2,900 7%
Development Control & Enforcement Expenditure 18,530 18,530 0 18,530 0
Development Control & Enforcement Income (481,550) (479,600) 0 (479,600) 1,950

Development Control & Enforcement Total (463,020) (461,070) 0 (461,070) 1,950 0%
Economic Development and Promotion Expenditure 302,420 850,610 0 850,610 548,190
Economic Development and Promotion Income 67,900 91,600 0 91,600 23,700

Economic Development and Promotion Total 370,320 942,210 0 942,210 571,890 154%
Emergency Planning and Works Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
Emergency Planning and Works Income 0 0 0 0 0

Emergency Planning and Works Total 0 0 0 0 0
Land Charges Expenditure 28,120 23,120 0 23,120 (5,000)
Land Charges Income (90,000) (90,000) 0 (90,000) 0

Land Charges Total (61,880) (66,880) 0 (66,880) (5,000) 8%
Local Plans & Policy Expenditure 323,584 293,120 50,000 343,120 19,536
Local Plans & Policy Income (10,000) (10,000) 0 (10,000) 0

Local Plans & Policy Total 313,584 283,120 50,000 333,120 19,536 6%
Markets Expenditure 13,650 12,870 0 12,870 (780)
Markets Income (1,500) (2,500) 0 (2,500) (1,000)

Markets Total 12,150 10,370 0 10,370 (1,780) -15%
Museum Expenditure 36,650 33,580 0 33,580 (3,070)
Museum Income 1,380 1,880 0 1,880 500

Museum Total 38,030 35,460 0 35,460 (2,570) -7%
Planning Services Expenditure 687,495 684,080 190,000 874,080 186,585
Planning Services Income 0 0 0 0 0

Planning Services Total 687,495 684,080 190,000 874,080 186,585 27%
LLPG/Gazetteer Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0
LLPG/Gazetteer Income 0 0 0 0 0

LLPG/Gazetteer Total 0 0 0 0 0
Tourist Information Centres Expenditure 19,980 22,800 0 22,800 2,820
Tourist Information Centres Income (7,500) (4,700) 0 (4,700) 2,800

Tourist Information Centres Total 12,480 18,100 0 18,100 5,620 45%
Tourism Promotion Expenditure 50,160 49,880 0 49,880 (280)
Tourism Promotion Income (1,800) (1,500) 0 (1,500) 300

Tourism Promotion Total 48,360 48,380 0 48,380 20 0%
Town Centres Expenditure 120,970 70,970 0 70,970 (50,000)
Town Centres Income 0 0 0 0 0

Town Centres Total 120,970 70,970 0 70,970 (50,000) -41%

6,981,920 6,589,015 1,002,000 7,591,015 609,095DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE TOTAL

P
age  61



Directorates Budget Holder Responsibility Service Description
Expenditure / 

Income

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22

Base Budget 
22/23

Priorities
Proposed 

Budget 
2022/23

Movement Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Directorate Chief Executive Expenditure 211,879 254,939 0 254,939 43,060

10,090,145 12,163,628 1,200,000 13,363,628 3,273,483GRAND TOTAL

P
age  62



APPENDIX 3

Medium Term Revenue Plan 2020/2   2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Revised Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
EXPENDITURE
Base Budget 10,231 12,162 13,362 9,702 9,893

Unavoidable Pressures
Salaries & Pensions 90 91 93
Contract Inflationary Pressures 100 100 100

Other Budgetary Movements
LGR Costs (1,600)

Total Budget Pressures 0 0 (1,410) 191 193

One Off Growth
Corporate Plan Growth (1,050)
Corporate Priorities 22/23 1,200 (1,200)

Total Budget Changes 0 1,200 (2,250) 0 0

NET COST OF SERVICES 10,231 13,362 9,702 9,893 10,086

Budget Adjustments & Use of Reserves
Revenue Contribution to Capital 1,596 667 800 390 0
Capital Accounting Adjustments (507) (507) (507) (507) (507)
Transfer to / (from) General Reserves 84 (1,088) 0 0 0
Transfer to / (from) Earmarked Reserves (2,213) (3,526) (838) (419) (100)

NET BUDGET REQUIREMENT 9,191 8,908 9,157 9,358 9,479

Medium Term Revenue Plan 2020/2   2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25
Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
FUNDING

Business Rates Funding (3,555) (3,555) (3,555) (3,555) (3,555)
Rural Services Delivery Grant (711) (711) (711) (711) (711)
New Homes Bonus (232) (386) (386) (386) (386)
Lower Tier Services Grant (263) (77) (77) (77) (77)
Other Government Grants (Covid) (261) 0 0 0 0
Other Government Grants (Services) (12) (12) (12) (12)
Collection Fund Deficit / (Surplus) 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer to Parish Councils - CTRS 15 15 15 15 15
Future Government Funding 0 0 0 0 0

(5,007) (4,726) (4,726) (4,726) (4,726)

Council Tax Income

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2021 - 2026

Page  63



Baseline (4,184) (4,182) (4,382) (4,513) (4,513)
Taxbase increase 0 (24) (24) (24)
Council Tax Increase @ £5 0 0 (106) (107) (107)
Collection Fund Deficit / (Surplus) 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL INCOME (9,191) (8,908) (9,238) (9,370) (9,370)

FUNDING GAP / (SURPLUS) 0 0 (81) (12) 109

Balance B/Fwd 3,024 3,108 2,020 2,020 2,020
Net Transfers In Year 84 (1,088) 0 0 0
Balance C/Fwd 3,108 2,020 2,020 2,020 2,020

Balance B/Fwd 10,247 8,034 4,508 3,670 3,252
Net Transfers In Year (2,213) (3,526) (838) (419) (100)
Balance C/Fwd 8,034 4,508 3,670 3,252 3,152

Balance B/Fwd 13,271 11,142 6,528 5,690 5,272
Net Transfers In Year (2,129) (4,614) (838) (419) (100)
Balance C/Fwd 11,142 6,528 5,690 5,272 5,172

General Fund Balance

Earmarked Reserves

Total Revenue Reserves

Page  64



APPENDIX 4

Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance
Revenue Reserves 31/03/2021 Out In 31/03/2022 Out In 31/03/2023 Out In 31/03/2024 Out In 31/03/2025 Out In 31/03/2026

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GF Balance 3,024 0 84 3,108 (1,182) 94 2,020 0 0 2,020 0 0 2,020 0 0 2,020

Existing Reserves
Capital Funding 1,348 (513) 835 (460) 375 (100) 275 (100) 175 (100) 75
Homelessness 92 92 92 92 92 92
Repossession 30 30 30 30 30 30
Building Regulations 73 73 73 73 73 73
Community Fund 146 146 146 146 146 146
Affordable Housing Fund 1,314 (144) 1,170 1,170 1,170 1,170 1,170
BRRS Reserve 93 93 93 93 93 93
Community Housing Fund 664 664 664 664 664 664
Penrith Vision 45 45 45 45 45 45
Appleby HAZ 4 4 4 4 4 4
Custom, Brown Field, 
Neighbourhood Plans 84 84 84 84 84 84

Transformation Reserve 450 450 (450) 0 0 0 0
Energy Efficiency Reserve 37 37 37 37 37 37
Heat Networks Reserve 86 86 86 86 86 86
Signature Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0
Heart of Cumbria Loan 2,136 (939) 1,197 (207) 990 (700) 290 (290) 0 0
Eden Business Park Ph2 48 48 48 48 48 48
Employment Sites Reserve 16 16 16 16 16 16
Eden Local Plan Reserve 243 243 (59) 100 284 (38) 246 (29) 218 218
Business Growth Pilot 19 19 19 19 19 19
Devolution public conveniences 24 24 24 24 24 24
Revenue Scheme Slippage 500 (500) 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Priorities 1,167 (117) 1,050 (2,250) 1,200 0 0 0 0
LGR Implementation Reserve 1,600 1,600 (1,600) 0 0 0 0
District Elections Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0
Leisure Management Reserve 0 200 200 200 200 200
Others 28 28 28 28 28 28

Total 10,247 (2,213) 0 8,034 (5,026) 1,500 4,508 (838) 0 3,670 (419) 0 3,252 (100) 0 3,152

Budget

GF BALANCE AND EARMARKED RESERVES (DRAFT)

Budget Budget Budget Budget

P
age  65



APPENDIX 5

Description Owner Revised 
2021/22

Budget 
2022/23

Forecast 
2023/24

Forecast 
2024/25

Forecast 
2025/26 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
IT Renewals Ben Wright 123 57 180
Development Management System Fergus McMorrow 40 116 156
Eden Business Park Ph1 Laura Cadman 59 59
Castle Park Vision Laura Cadman 0 187 187
Parish Footway Lighting Laura Cadman 0 50 50
Leisure Centre Equipment & 
Maintenance Robert Docherty 464 464

Single Site - Voreda House Les Clark 1,250 1,863 3,113
Funding - Heart of Cumbria Properties Paul Sutton 939 207 700 290 2,136
Discretionary Renovation Grants Robert Docherty 0 100 100
Disabled Facility Grants Robert Docherty 525 640 440 440 440 2,485
Housing Innovation Fund Robert Docherty 0 0
Newton Road Affordable Housing Robert Docherty 144 144
Green Business Support Fund Laura Cadman 100 100 100 100 400
Green Homes Grant Extension Robert Docherty 150 150
Green Home Exemplar Robert Docherty 50 400 450
Capital Grant - Frenchfield Stadium 
Improvements Robert Docherty 100 100

EV Charging Points - Appleby Laura Cadman 113 113
Town Hall Redevelopment Laura Cadman 0 750 750
Carbon Reduction Scheme Laura Cadman 250 250
Total 4,307 4,470 1,240 830 440 11,287

Revised 
2021/22

Budget 
2022/23

Forecast 
2023/24

Forecast 
2024/25

Forecast 
2025/26 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Receipts 736 1,130 0 0 0 1,866
Direct Revenue/Reserves 1,596 667 800 390 0 3,453
Capital Grants 1,381 640 440 440 440 3,341
Borrowing 594 2,033 0 0 0 2,627
Total 4,307 4,470 1,240 830 440 11,287

Capital Programme 2022/23 - 2025/26

FUNDING

P
age  66


	Agenda
	6 Development Management Review
	Development Management Review
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendations
	3 Report Details
	3.1 Planning Advisory Service Review
	3.2 Feedback

	4. Policy Framework
	5. Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Environmental
	6.5 Statutory Considerations
	6.6 Risk Management

	7 Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
	Appendix1_PASEdenDM-ReviewReport_FINAL-VERSION.pdf
	1.0 Context and scope of the report
	2.0 Background and methodology
	Interviews held prior to the on site review days

	3.0 Recommendations
	Development Management performance (refer also to appendix 1)
	Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (refer also to appendices 2 and 3)
	Officer / Member relationships (refer also to appendices 2 and 3)
	Officer negotiation skills (refer also to appendices 2 and 3)
	Pre application service (refer also to appendix 4)
	Planning enforcement service (refer also to appendix 5)
	Short term

	Biodiversity Net Gain (refer also to appendix 6)

	4.0 Detailed Feedback
	4.1 Development Management Performance (see also appendix 1)
	4.2 Use of Planning policies in the planning applications decision making process (see also appendices 2 and 3)
	4.3 Officer / Member relationships (see also appendices 2 and 3)
	4.4 Officer negotiation skills (see also appendices 2 and 3)
	4.5 Pre application service (see also appendix 4)
	4.6 Planning Enforcement (see also appendix 5)
	4.7  Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (see also appendix 6)

	5.0 Further Support
	Appendix 1 – Eden Development Management Performance
	Appendix 2 – Officer workshop on negotiation skills, use of policy and officer / Member relations
	Appendix 3 - Officer / Member workshop on negotiation skills, use of policy and officer / Member relations
	Appendix 4 - Pre application service
	Appendix 5 – Planning enforcement service
	Appendix 6 – Biodiversity Net Gain

	DCE04-22_DevelopmentManagementReview_CoveringReport.pdf
	Development Management Review
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendations
	3 Report Details
	3.1 Planning Advisory Service Review
	3.2 Feedback

	4 Policy Framework
	5 Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Environmental
	6.5 Statutory Considerations
	6.6 Risk Management

	7 Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation




	8 Draft Budget Proposals 2022/23 & Impact on Medium Term Financial Plan
	DoR01-22_Appendices_Budget 22-23 v5.pdf
	App 2 Revenue Budget
	App 3 MTFP
	App 4 GF & Reserves
	App 5 Capital Programme





